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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MARK JOHNSON, 

          Employee, 

               Claimant,

          v. 

MUNCIPALITY OF ANCHORAGE,

          (Self-insured) Employer,

                Defendant.

	)
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)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
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)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200420079
AWCB Decision No.  08-0185
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on October 10, 2008


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claims on May 28 and May 29, 2008, in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Chancey Croft represented the employee (“employee”).   Attorney Shelby Nuenke-Davison represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record was kept open until June 3, 2008 for the receipt of additional evidence, and until September 16, 2008, for further deliberation by the Board.  The record closed after the Board next met to deliberate on September 16, 2008.
ISSUES

1. Is the employee’s past and ongoing treatment for coronary vasospasm and stents compensable after March of 2005 pursuant to AS 23.30.095?

2. What is the appropriate diagnosis and compensability of the employee’s pulmonary condition after March of 2005 pursuant to AS 23.30.095?

3. Is the employee entitled to total temporary disability (“TTD”) benefits from March 24, 2005 through January 27, 2007, pursuant to AS 23.30.185?

4. Is the employee entitled to attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to AS 23.30.145?
5. Is the employee entitled to interest on late paid benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142, AS 23.30.155(p) and AS 09.30.070(a).
SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
I. BRIEF PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The employee filed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (“ROI”) on November 21, 2004, stating he suffered an allergic reaction to an exposure to urine, feces, and rotting food in a poorly maintained trailer when responding to a 911 call.
 The employer controverted the employee’s WCC for temporary total disability (“TTD”), permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) and medical treatment related to cholesterol, high blood pressure, angina, antiplatelet agents, atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction and artery stenosis, on February 25, 2005, stating there was no medical evidence to establish a link between the work injury and the claimed medical condition.
  On April 18, 2005, the employee filed a workers’compensation claim (“WCC”), claiming a toxic inhalation exposure due to inhaling an unknown substance, which resulted in injury to his pulmonary and cardiovascular systems. On September 13, 2005, the employer controverted benefits for medical treatment and prescriptions including cardiac and pulmonary conditions, cholesterol, high blood pressure, asthma, sinus allergies, reactive airway disease, angina, artherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, artery stenosis, and coronary artery disease, relying on the March 2005 EME reports of doctors Thompson and Smith.
  The employer also filed a controversion on December 20, 2006, denying all future medical benefits after March 26, 2005, based on the September 2005 EME reports of doctors Singh and Arora.
  

On March 1, 2007, the employee filed his Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (“ARH”), which was opposed by the employer.
 On August 30, 2007, the employer controverted all future medical benefits regarding RADS from March 26, 2005, and ongoing, based on Dr. Arora’s August 13, 2007 EME report.

A Prehearing Conference was held on March 3, 2008, setting May 28th and May 29th, 2008 as the dates for the hearing on the merits the issues for hearing, which were the compensability of the employee’s treatment for coronary vasospasm and stents after March of 2005 and the appropriate diagnosis and compensability of his treatment for his pulmonary condition, RADS and/or asthma, after March of 2005, as well as the employee’s claim for TTD from March 25, 2007 through January 27, 2007.

On April 28, 2008, the parties filed a stipulation regarding payment of past medical, prescription, transportation and time loss benefits.
  The parties stipulated all past medical benefits or reimbursement to Calypso for past medical benefits from November 21, 2004 through March 29, 2005 had been paid and there were no outstanding past medical disputes for that period.
  In addition, the parties stipulated there were no outstanding past disputes for TTD or TPD from November 21, 2004 through March 8, 2005.

II. MEDICAL AND FACTUAL HISTORY

2004

On November 21, 2004, the employee was working for the employer in his job as a firefighter and paramedic, when he and his partner, Ken Outten, responded to a 911 call at 2:30 or so in the morning.
  When they arrived at the trailer from which the call had originated, the lights were off and there was no evidence anybody was in the trailer.
  After they looked through the windows with flashlights and did not see anything, they forced the door open to go in and search.
  An elderly gentleman opened the door for them just as they forced it open, and after talking with the gentleman for a few minutes, the employee went into the trailer and walked to the back bedroom and back to the front.
  The employee was in the trailer for about 15 to 20 minutes altogether, and he testified he felt he breathed something in during that time.
  There were dried dog feces, rotten food and garbage, and mice literally running over their feet across the floor.
  He and his partner talked the gentleman into walking out to the ambulance with them, where they checked his vital signs and found his oxygen saturation was only 76%, so they decided to take him to Providence Hospital.
 The employee lost track of the gentleman after taking him to the hospital, and did not know whether he survived the night or not.

After taking the gentleman to the hospital, the employee and his partner returned to Station 6 in Muldoon, and the employee noticed his eyes and nose were running profusely and his face had started to get puffy.
  He and his partner returned to Providence Alaska Medical Center (“PAMC”) emergency department (“ER”), where he was treated for an allergic reaction to an unknown substance.
  Vincent Imbriani, M.D., evaluated the employee and diagnosed him with acute allergic reaction, most likely due to environmental allergen, rhinitis and throat swelling, most likely due to a histamine reaction due to environmental allergies.
  On physical examination, his lungs were noted to be clear to auscultation.
  Dr. Imbriani noted the employee’s condition improved significantly during his time in the ER.
  The employee was treated with prednisone, Pepcid, Claritin, and Neo-Synephrine nasal spray, and discharged in good condition.
  The employee was able to complete his shift, getting off at 9 o’clock that morning.
  

The employee continued to have symptoms of head congestion, draining sinuses, and severe headaches up until December 22, 2004.
  In addition, he developed a cough, and his symptoms waxed and waned during this time.
 The employee testified that on December 22, 2004, he had to leave work to go to the hospital due to extreme headaches and coughing.
  He had asked his supervisor about two weeks prior to December 22, 2004, if he could not be moved to a slower station, since Medic 6, where he had been working, is one of the busiest ambulances in the city, and his illness was not getting better.
  His supervisor transferred him to a slower station, where he worked until December 22, 2004.
  On December 22, 2004, the employee testified his symptoms worsened to the point he could not work, and he went to PAMC ER.
  He was treated there by John Hall, M.D, who diagnosed him with acute bronchitis with reactive airway disease (“RAD”), which Dr. Hall opined could have been initiated by the work exposure, although the exposure had happened a month before.
  On physical examination, Dr. Hall noted the employee had tenderness over the maxillary sinuses and his lungs had expiratory wheezing throughout.
  Dr. Hall treated the employee with the antibiotic Zithromax and albuterol, and Vicodin ES for cough and pain.

The employee was seen for followup by Ashley Marquardt, PA-C, on December 27, 2004.
  The employee gave a history of having an exposure a month earlier on November 21, 2004, after which he had developed fairly severe upper and lower respiratory symptoms, including coughing that produced brownish sputum.
  The employee also reported his symptoms had not improved since his emergency room visit of December 22, 2004.
  On physical examination, PA Marquardt noted auscultation of the employee’s lungs revealed wheezing and the chest x-ray appeared to be normal.
  The employee was treated with the antibiotic Levaquin, additional albuterol inhalers, a fluticasone inhaler, and prednisone.

On December 29, 2004, the employee was seen at PAMC ER by Matthew Madden, M.D.
  The employee gave a history of experiencing an episode of progressive shortness of breath and chest tightness.
  He tried some inhalers, and then called an ambulance.
  He reported the exposure on November 21, 2004, and symptoms that waxed and waned over the month since the exposure.
  On physical examination, the employee was noted to have wheezing in his lungs and a rapid heart rate and respiratory rate.
  A CT scan of the employee’s chest showed minimal interstitial infiltrate in the left posterior lung base, but was otherwise normal.
  The employee was treated with albuterol, oxygen, nebulizer treatments, and solumedrol.
  Dr. Madden diagnosed the employee with acute respiratory distress, history of allergic reactive airway disease, and bronchitis, and discharged him home as clinically stable after treatment.

However, on the way home after discharge, the employee experienced palpitations and chest discomfort over the right anterior chest.
  He returned to the ER, where he was reevaluated by Dr. Madden, who opined the employee had suffered a non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (“MI”) and RAD/bronchitis.
 Dr. Madden called Lisa Gray, D.O., from Cardiology, to see the employee.
  The laboratory studies performed on the employee revealed a dramatic change in his cardiac enzymes, with his CPK greater than 900 and troponin of 20, suggestive of myocardial damage.
  The employee was admitted to the hospital for further evaluation, including cardiac catheterization.
  Cardiac catheterization was performed by Dr. Gray, who found the employee suffered from severe left anterior descending (“LAD”) artery stenosis, moderate-to-severe right coronary artery disease, and ostial ramus stenosis of a moderate degree.
  Dr. Gray recommended percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (“PTCA”), which was performed by Richard Anschuetz, M.D.
  A stent was placed in the proximal LAD, with reduction in stenosis from 90% to 0%.

2005

Dr. Gray referred the employee for consultation by pulmonologist John Clark, M.D., on January 2, 2005.
  Dr. Clark reviewed the employee’s history of the November 21, 2004 exposure and subsequent pulmonary condition, including recurring cough, and subsequent treatment.
  On physical examination, Dr. Clark noted the employee’s oxygen saturation was 96% on 2 liters of oxygen and there was expiratory wheezing in his lungs bilaterally.
  The chest x-ray performed on January 2, 2005, showed the lungs were clear.
  Dr. Clark opined the employee’s clinical history and subsequent symptoms were most suggestive of RADS.
  He prescribed Advair 500/50, twice a day, albuterol, and cough medication, as well as a pertussis antibody panel to rule out pertussis.
 

The employee was discharged from PAMC on January 3, 2005, and his discharge diagnoses were coronary artery disease, with stent placement, anterior wall myocardial infarction (“MI”), respiratory disease with questionable etiology from a fire in November, hyperlipidemia, and history of borderline hypertension.
  His discharge medications included Vasotec, Toprol-XL,
 nitroglycerin, prednisone taper, Advair, 500/50 twice per day, and albuterol.

On January 7, 2005, the employee experienced left-sided chest pressure, and took nitroglycerin tablets twice without relief.
  He called the medics, who transported him to PAMC ER.
  He was admitted to the Progressive Care Unit (“PCU”) at PAMC to rule out MI.
  The employee was evaluated by Mark Moronell, M.D., who diagnosed atypical chest pain which occurred at rest.
  On physical examination, auscultation of the employee’s lungs revealed expiratory wheezes.
  A chest x-ray was normal, without change from December 20, 2004.
  The employee underwent a Cardiolite Gated Thallium Cardiac Study on January 8, 2005, which was markedly abnormal, showing a large area of ischemia in the mid to distal portion of the anterior wall.
  A cardiac catheterization was performed on January 9, 2005, and the stent that had been placed on December 20, 2004 was found to be patent.
  The employee was discharged on January 9, 2005, in good condition, with a diagnosis of chest pain, not felt to be cardiac.

The employee saw Dr. Clark for a followup visit on January 10, 2005.
  Dr. Clark noted the Pertussis antibodies obtained during the employee’s hospitalization were negative and sputum cytology showed clumps of neutrophils, a few atypical squamous cells and no significant eosinophils.
  Dr. Clark diagnosed the employee with RADS, and prescribed Advair 500/50 twice a day and albuterol as needed.

On January 13, 2005, the employee saw Margaret Barnett, ANP, for followup after his hospitalization.
  The employee complained of some orthostasis with position changes.
  The employee’s physical examination was within normal limits, and he told ANP Gray he wanted to go back to work, which she authorized, as long as it was paperwork only.

The employee suffered a near syncopal episode at church on January 16, 2005, for which the medics were called and he was transported to the PAMC ER.
 He was evaluated by John Hanley, M.D., who opined the employee’s near syncope was due to his blood pressure medication.
  Dr. Hanley decreased the dosage of the blood pressure medication and the employee was discharged.
 The employee testified he remained off work until he was released to extreme light duty on January 13, 2005, returning to full duty on March 8, 2005.
 

The employee was seen for followup by Dr. Clark on February 1, 2005, and reported his cough had nearly completely abated.
  Dr. Clark decreased the employee’s Advair dose to 250/50 from 500/50.
 

On February 16, 2005, the employee experienced chest pain and an irregular heartbeat, so he went into the PAMC ER for evaluation.
  He was seen by Clifford Merchant, M.D., who transferred him to the PCU for further evaluation.
  He was evaluated by Dr. Gray in the PCU and placed on continuous telemetry monitoring.
  Cardiac enzymes and electrocardiogram (“EKG”) were ordered, and a referral for electrophysiology studies was made.
   On February 17, 2005, an electrophysiology study with implantation of a loop recorder was performed by Krzysztof Balaban, M.D.
  Dr. Balaban found no inducibility of ventricular tachycardia or fibrillation or sustained supraventricular tachycardia.
 The employee did have some upper left chest discomfort after the electrophysiology study, but an EKG showed no changes and a stat echocardiogram was unremarkable.
  The chest discomfort was relieved with nitroglycerin.
  The employee was discharged in stable condition on February 17, 2005.

On March 8, 2005, the employee was seen by Dr. Clark for followup for his pulmonary condition.
  He reported he had been doing reasonably well, without significant nocturnal symptoms, although he had a bit of increased cough after being exposed to lint from a baby blanket.
  He also reported his exercise tolerance was near normal.
  On physical examination, Dr. Clark found the employee’s lungs were clear to auscultation, his oxygen saturation was 96% on room air, and spirometry showed forced vital capacity (“FVC”) of 4.29 L or 117% of predicted, forced expiratory volume in one second (“FEV1”) of 3.63 L or 109% of predicted, and FEV1/FVC of 103%,
 normal results according to the spirometry report.
  Dr. Clark opined the employee’s symptoms of RADS were quiescent, and his cough and wheeze increased with exposure to various environmental irritants.
  Dr. Clark advised the employee to continue his Advair at 250/50 twice per day and albuterol as needed, with followup in three to four months as needed.

At the request of the employer, the employee was evaluated in an employer’s medical evaluation (“EME”) by internist Alvin Thompson, M.D., on March 24, 2005,
  and Dorsett Smith, M.D., a specialist in occupational pulmonary diseases, on March 25, 2005.
  Dr. Thompson diagnosed the employee with: 1) acute reactive airway disease, exacerbated by the November 21, 2004 injury, remitted; 2) acute allergic upper respiratory reaction, secondary to the work injury, subsided; 3) coronary artery disease with myocardial infarction (“MI”), status postoperative angioplasty and subcutaneous cardiac rhythm recorder placement; and 4) dyslipidemia.
  Dr. Thompson opined the work event of November 21, 2004 acutely exacerbated a preexisting upper and lower respiratory and sinus condition to cause the need for medical treatment.
  Dr. Thompson also opined the work event did not aggravate, accelerate or exacerbate the employee’s chronic coronary artery disease.
  He agreed with Dr. Smith that it is impossible to say with any degree of medical certainty that the acute allergic reaction and subsequent sinus infection produced significant enough inflammation under an atherosclerotic plaque to cause an acute myocardial infarction.
  Dr. Thompson opined the aggravation of the underlying respiratory and sinus condition was temporary, resolving by January 3, 2005, when the employee’s pulmonary function studies were normal.
  Dr. Thompson opined the work injury was not a substantial factor in the need for the employee’s continuing treatment for either his pulmonary, allergy or coronary heart disease.
  Dr. Thompson also opined the employee had not suffered any permanent impairment caused by the work injury.
  Dr. Thompson also noted there was definitely no evidence of symptom magnification or malingering on the part of the employee.

Dr. Smith opined the employee was a very cooperative and transparent individual, whose history was quite coherent.
  Dr. Smith noted the employee’s medications were Toprol 25 mg per day, Prevacid 30 mg per day, Vasotec 2.5 mg per day, Lipitor 20 mg per day, Plavix 75 mg a day, aspirin 325 mg per day, Advair 250/50 twice per day, and albuterol and nitroglycerin as needed.
  On physical exam, Dr. Smith noted the employee’s lungs were clear, without wheezes or rales, and his oxygen saturation was 97%.
  Pulmonary function studies were performed and were within normal limits.
  A methacholine challenge test was also performed, and this was within normal limits.
  Dr. Smith diagnosed the employee with arteriosclerotic cardiovascular disease, with a family history of coronary artery disease, recent MI, normal exercise tolerance, mild hyperlipidemia, allergic rhinitis, past bronchial asthma, and acute allergic reaction to unknown environmental antigens in the workplace.
  Dr. Smith opined the employee had a preexisting allergic diathesis, with hay fever and sinus problems in the past, and had an almost anaphylactic reaction, with angioedema of the face following the work exposure to multiple organic allergens on November 21, 2004.  He further opined this work exposure was a substantial factor in causing an aggravation of the preexisting condition in the form of probable acute sinusitis, and that the employee had reached medical stability by March 25, 2005, and suffered no permanent impairment resulting from the work injury.
    Dr. Smith summarized his opinion as follows:

 It is well recognized that inflammation is a key factor in the production of an inflammatory response under an atherosclerotic plaque that may result in plaque rupture and acute occlusion of a coronary artery.  The patient’s C. Reactive Protein studies were positive.
  It is impossible to say with any degree of medical certainty that the acute allergic reaction and subsequent sinus infection, which would be related to the exposures, produced significant enough inflammation under an atherosclerotic plaque to cause a MI.  This seems plausible that in a patient with a family history of MI and fairly significant underlying atherosclerotic heart disease that the inflammatory reaction from the exposure was sufficient to cause his MI.  At the same time it is important to recognize that in a normal individual of his age a MI would not have developed because the patient would not have significant pre-existing coronary artery disease.  Therefore, genetic and host susceptibility factors play even a larger role then (sic) the role of the environmental exposure as a causation of his MI.

On June 1, 2005, Dr. Clark saw the employee for a followup appointment.
  The employee reported to Dr. Clark that he had no cough or nocturnal symptoms and he was able to participate in aerobic activities without any limitation.
  On physical examination, Dr. Clark found the employee’s lungs were clear to auscultation and his oxygen saturation on room air was 98%.
  Dr.  Clark opined the employee’s RADS symptoms remained quiescent and decided to decrease the Advair to 100/50 twice a day and continue the albuterol as needed.

The employee experienced left-sided chest pain, lasting about three days, as well as dizziness, on July 8, 2005.
 He was transported to PAMC ER by the medics
 and evaluated at PAMC ER, by Gina Wilson-Ramirez, M.D.
  The employee’s physical examination, EKG, and laboratory tests, including troponin level and CK-MB, 
 were within normal limits, and Dr. Wilson-Ramirez discharged him.

The employee was evaluated by Dr. Gray on July 28, 2005, for a followup after his ER visit.
 Dr. Gray noted the employee’s medications included Advair, 100/50, twice daily, albuterol as needed, aspirin, Lipitor, nitroglycerin, Plavix, Toprol-XL, and Vasotec.  She also noted the employee’s recurrent intermittent symptoms of dizziness and lightheadedness did not correspond to any heart rhythm abnormality, and she opined his symptoms might be related to his cardiac medications.
  She decreased his Vasotec dose and suggested he take that medication in the evening to help his symptoms.

On September 13, 2005, the employee saw Dr. Clark for followup of RADS.
  Dr. Clark noted the employee reported he had reduced his Advair 100/50 to just once per day and was doing well clinically with no symptoms of cough, sputum, chest tightness, wheeze or exercise limitation, and no nocturnal symptoms.
  Dr. Clark noted the lungs were clear to auscultation.
  Dr. Clark opined the employee’s RADS symptoms were quiescent, and decided to stop the Advair and continue the albuterol.
  Dr. Clark instructed the employee to call if he had any new symptoms of cough, wheeze or exercise limitation after stopping the Advair.
  

At the employer’s request, the employee was evaluated by an employer medical evaluation (“EME”) panel, consisting of cardiologist Shivdyal Singh, M.D., and internist and forensic specialist Ajit Arora, M.D., on September 21st and 22nd, 2005.
  Dr. Singh performed an in person examination of the employee and also reviewed his medical records.
  Dr. Singh opined the employee’s heart attack of December 30, 2004, was unrelated to his work injury of November 21, 2004.
 He opined the employee’s heart attack was due to preexisting atherosclerosis, which usually takes months and years to build up in the coronary arteries, and that the bronchial infections had no role to play in the cause of his heart attack.
  

After evaluating the employee in person and reviewing the available medical records, Dr. Arora issued his EME report on September 22, 2005.
  Dr. Arora opined the most likely cause of the employee’s coronary artery disease is genetic predisposition, as his mother developed coronary heart disease at age 59 and died of heart disease at age 69.
 He further opined the employee had other risk factors, such as hyperlipidemia, male gender, and borderline hypertension, which had not been treated.
  Dr. Arora opined the employee’s December 2004 MI was not triggered by an industrial factor, such as acute emotional distress or heavy physical exertion, but “was a spontaneous onset of chest pain, most likely by a circadian factor.”
  He also opined the bronchial infection was not the trigger for the MI.
  Dr. Arora opined the preponderance of evidence based on published literature to date does not support the concept of acute respiratory infections triggering myocardial infarction.
  

Dr. Arora diagnosed the employee as follows: 1) preexisting premature coronary artery atherosclerosis; 2) history of subendocardial infarction on December 30, 2004, without long-term sequelae or impact on cardiac function; 3) preexisting and long-standing history of allergic diathesis with IgE mediated environmental allergies; 4) temporary exacerbation of allergic diathesis from exposure on November 21, 2004, with treatment and recovery to pre-injury baseline; 5) acute bronchitis diagnosed on December 22, 2004, possibly, not probably, related to exposure of November 21, 2004; and 6) post-infectious bronchospasm associated with diagnosis number 4, treated and cured with complete recovery by March 25, 2005.
  

Dr. Arora summarized by opining the November 2004 work exposure caused only a temporary exacerbation of a preexisting allergic diathesis, which, if the employee’s history of progressively worsening cough was believed, had a plausible relationship to the acute bronchitis of November 22, 2004.
  He also opined the work exposure did not have any effect on the preexisting coronary artery disease, based on reasonable medical probability.
 Dr. Arora opined the employee was medically stable from a cardiac standpoint by March 8, 2005, when a stress echocardiogram documented normal cardiac function, and from a pulmonary standpoint by March 25, 2008, when evaluated by Dr. Smith.
  The spirometry test performed on September 22, 2005, during Dr. Arora’s examination of the employee, was normal.
  He opined the employee did not suffer any permanent partial impairment from either his cardiac or pulmonary conditions that was attributable to his work injury, and no further treatment was required for either condition, except preventive treatment for the coronary artery disease.

The employee experienced chest pain at rest on October 16, 2005, which was relieved with nitroglycerin.
  The morning of October 17, 2005, he again experienced substernal chest pain, radiating to the left shoulder.
  He was seen in the PAMC ER by Lisa Rabinowitz, M.D., who noted he became pain free after receiving sublingual nitroglycerin and a nitroglycerin drip.
  Alan Skolnick, M.D., evaluated the employee and admitted him to the PAMC PCU with a diagnosis of unstable angina and plans for cardiac catheterization that same day.
   The cardiac catheterization showed the stent in the LAD was patent, but also showed two vessel coronary artery disease, including a 70% stenosis in the distal right coronary artery, and mild reduction in the left ventricular systolic function with hypokinesis of the anterolateral wall and the anteroapical septum.
  The decision was made to perform angioplasty and stent placement in the right coronary artery, which was done on October 17, 2005.
  The employee’s chest pain resolved and he was discharged in stable condition on October 18, 2005.

On November 8, 2005, the employee was seen for followup after his hospitalization by Dr. Gray.
  Dr. Gray noted his medications included Advair, 100/50, twice daily, albuterol as needed, aspirin, Lipitor, nitroglycerin, Plavix, Toprol-XL, and Vasotec.  The employee told Dr. Gray he had stopped the medication Imdur that was started in the hospital, as it caused headaches and hypotension.
  The employee reported he had chest pain requiring the use of nitroglycerin multiple times during the day since his discharge from the hospital, but the chest pain was milder, less frequent and did not radiate to his left shoulder and arm as it had previously.
  He further reported the chest pain occurred at rest.
  Dr. Gray opined the employee had atypical chest pain, perhaps due to coronary artery spasm (“CAS”), as it occurred at rest.
  She also opined Cardiolite testing should be done if the chest pain continued.
  She added Foltex and CoQ10 to his medication regimen.

Dr. Gray did refer the employee for a Cardiolite stress test, which was performed on November 14, 2005, by Alan Skolnick, M.D.,
  who concluded the test was abnormal and notable for transient ischemic dilatation of the left ventricle and a moderate-sized ischemic perfusion defect of the anteroapex and anteroseptum, with a corresponding wall motion abnormality.
  The employee was scheduled to undergo repeat heart catheterization.

On November 16, 2005, the employee was seen in the PAMC ER after experiencing recurrent substernal chest pain at rest, radiating to the left shoulder and neck.
  He was admitted to the hospital for stabilization and cardiac catheterization,
  which was performed on November 17, 2005, and showed left ventricular anterolateral hypokinesis and patent stents in the LAC and right coronary artery (“RCA”), with a questionable lesion in the proximal to mid LAD distal to the previously placed stent.
  The employee was referred to Thomas Kramer, M.D., 
 who performed intravascular ultrasound and stent placement in the proximal apical LAD.
  

On referral from Dr. Clark, the employee was seen by board certified pulmonologist Gregory Gerboth, M.D., on November 22, 2005.
  After seeing the employee and reviewing the medical records, Dr. Gerboth opined the employee had a “classic case of RADS with a very high dose exposure to a respiratory irritant that resulted in an inflammatory process within the lungs,” causing persistent respiratory symptoms after the event occurred.
  He noted the employee’s medications relating to his pulmonary condition included Advair 100/50, which the employee said he used once per day, and albuterol as needed.
 Dr. Gerboth also opined the employee’s symptoms seemed to be slowly improving, which was consistent with the time frame expected with a RADS initiated event.
  In Dr. Gerboth’s opinion, Dr. Aurora’s argument that the employee’s preexisting allergy to dogs and cats disqualified from a diagnosis of RADS, was  weak.
  Dr. Gerboth indicated the employee’s allergic symptoms were minimal prior to the November 21, 2004 exposure, and thus would not preclude him from being diagnosed with RADS.
 Dr. Gerboth further opined the employee was doing well on low dose Advair, and no changes in medication were indicated at that time.
  He also noted the employee’s pulmonary function test (“PFT”) and methacholine challenge, both done previously, were normal, but he opined the significance of this was mitigated by the fact they were done while the employee was on Advair.
  Dr. Gerboth indicated the employee reported to him that he had tried to get samples taken from the trailer where the exposure took place on November 21, 2004, but for legal reasons, this was not done.
  Dr. Gerboth opined since the exposure had happened a year earlier, he was not sure what value samples taken at that time would have.
  Dr. Gerboth concluded that the November 21, 2004 exposure was responsible for the employee’s respiratory symptoms that developed afterwards.

On November 29, 2005, on referral from Lisa Gray, D.O., of the Alaska Heart Institute, the employee was seen by Gurpreet Singh Sandhu, M.D., for evaluation of his CAS.
  Dr. Sandhu noted the employee’s medications were Toprol, Enalapril, Lipitor, Plavix, aspirin, Advair, folbic, nitroglycerin and albuterol as needed.
 Dr. Sandhu assessed the employee as having rapidly progressive and aggressive coronary artery disease involving all three coronary arteries.
  Dr. Sandhu noted the employee’s cardiologist was concerned about CAS, as the employee had had multiple interventions in the last year, and then also developed recurrent episodes of chest discomfort at rest.
 Dr. Sandhu opined the employee’s rapidly progressive disease could be spasm that may have been treated with stent placement.
  The employee underwent coronary angiogram, which revealed mild to moderate three vessel coronary artery disease, with a significant, 50% lesion in the ostium of his intermediate artery.
 A spasm study with Acetylcholine infusion was performed, which resulted in significant spasm in the employee’s distal LAD.
 Dr. Sandhu diagnosed the employee with CAS, abnormal microvascular and endothelial function, and opined he would benefit from the discontinuation of the Toprol-XL, and the addition of Amlodipine or Diltiazem, calcium channel blockers,
 and a long acting nitrate to his medications.

2006

The employee was seen for followup by Dr. Gray on January 31, 2006.
  She noted the employee’s medications were Advair, albuterol, aspirin, CoQ10, Foltx, Lipitor, nitroglycerin, Norvasc, Plavix, and Vasotec,
  and that Dr. Sandhu discontinued the employee’s Toprol and added Norvasc.
 The employee reported since his medications had changed, he had infrequent brief episodes of chest pain and only used nitroglycerin on two occasions.
  Dr. Gray opined the employee had probable vasospastic angina and endothelial dysfunction, which had improved on Norvasc and off Toprol therapy.

On February 9, 2006, the employee saw John Clark, M.D., for followup of his RADS.
  Dr. Clark noted the employee’s medications were Advair 100/50, 1 puff every morning, albuterol as needed, Plavix, Lipitor, and a calcium channel blocker.
  The employee told Dr. Clark he had a cough in the morning and had to use his albuterol less than once a day for rescue.
  On physical exam, the employee’s lungs were clear to auscultation.
  Dr. Clark concluded the employee was having some early morning symptoms of his RADS, which may have been related to a recent upper respiratory tract infection.  Dr. Clark increased the employee’s Advair to twice per day.

The employee was seen by cardiologist William Mayer, M.D., for a third opinion on his cardiac condition on June 6, 2006.
  Dr. Mayer noted the employee’s medications included albuterol, aspirin, coenzyme Q10, Foltx, Lipitor, nitroglycerin, Norvasc, Plavix, and Vasotec.
 Dr. Mayer examined the employee, reviewed his medical records, and opined he was doing well from a cardiac standpoint, with no symptoms other than skipped beat palpitations.
  He also opined the employee’s Lipitor should be increased to the highest dose possible, given the results of the Reversal and Prove-it Trials.
  Dr. Mayer further opined the employee’s illness in the month prior to his heart attack precipitated the timing of his heart attack, but did not precipitate the employee’s atheromatous disease.
 

The employee was admitted to PAMC with recurrent angina, unrelieved with nitroglycerine on July 8, 2006.
 Dr. Gray opined the employee needed another cardiac catheterization to diagnosis the reason for his recurrent chest pain.
 Dr. Gray noted the employee’s medications were Norvasc, Plavix, Enalapril, folic acid, Lipitor, aspirin, CoQ10, and B12.
 The employee underwent coronary angiography on July 10, 2006, performed by Seth Krauss, M.D.
    Dr. Krauss found a 30 to 40% proximal narrowing of the ramus intermedius branch of the left anterior descending artery (“LAD”), a 70% narrowing of the second obtuse marginal branch of the circumflex artery, and 50 to 70% narrowing of the inferior limb of the third obtuse marginal branch of the circumflex artery.
  He found the right coronary artery and its branches to be patent.
  Dr. Krauss discharged the employee on July 10, 2006, with a diagnosis of variant angina with no signs of acute coronary syndrome of MI, and patient coronary arteries and stents.
  The medication L arginine was added to the employee’s medication regimen.

On December 1, 2006, the employee consulted Susan Johnson, PA-C, for a two-and-a-half week history of sinus infection, increased postnasal drip and occasional cough.
  The employee did not complain of shortness of breath.
  On physical exam, PA Johnson found the employee was not short of breath, and his lungs were clear to auscultation.
  She diagnosed sinusitis and gave the employee an antibiotic and the medication Rhinocort for nasal congestion.

2007

The employee was evaluated by board certified cardiologist William Breall, M.D., on January 23, 2007,
 in a second independent medical examination (“SIME”).  Dr. Breall diagnosed the employee with atherosclerotic coronary artery occlusive disease, status post multiple coronary angioplasty and stent procedure to the left anterior descending coronary artery and right coronary artery, superimposed CAS, hypercholesterolemia, high levels of low density  lipoprotein, and mild labile hypertension.
  Dr. Breall opined the employee’s initial symptoms of chest pain were probably secondary to a major obstruction of his left anterior descending coronary artery due to severe coronary artery atherosclerosis and superimposed CAS.
  He further opined superimposition of CAS on top of coronary artery atherosclerosis can result in a major obstruction causing a MI.
  He also opined aggravation of the underlying atherosclerotic plaque from a severe respiratory infection could cause a rupture of an atherosclerotic plaque, which would result in obstruction, which would in turn result in a MI.
  Dr. Breall maintained some of the medications, specifically, the employee’s inhalers, could have aggravated the CAS, produced greater obstruction, resulting in an acute MI.
  He deferred to Dr. Raybin’s opinion as to whether the work injury of November 21, 2004, caused the December 2004 MI.
  Dr. Breall restated his opinion that an acute allergic or acute respiratory infection can cause CAS, which can rupture an atherosclerotic plaque, which could in turn cause a MI.
  However, concerning whether the November 21, 2004 work injury caused the acute allergic reaction and/or the acute respiratory infection or inflammation, Dr. Breall deferred to Dr. Raybin, stating if Dr. Raybin opined the respiratory condition was caused by the work injury, then the MI was caused by the work injury.

On January 25, 2007, the employee was evaluated by pulmonologist Daniel M. Raybin, M.D., in a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (“SIME”).
  Dr. Raybin diagnosed the employee with coronary artery disease, allergic rhinitis due to cats, reactive airway dysfunction syndrome (“RADS”) and/or asthma, caused by the November 21, 2004 acute inhalational exposure to multiple organic antigens, and acute rhinosinusitis following the November 21, 2004 inhalational exposure.
  Concerning the diagnosis of RADS and/or asthma, Dr. Raybin noted the employee had never had problems with asthma, wheezing, cough or dyspnea prior to November 21, 2004, and that it was only after the exposure he developed cough and wheezing, which were documented by the physical examinations of several physicians and nurses in the medical records.
  Further, Dr. Raybin noted that the employee responded to courses of treatment with prednisone, which reduced his coughing and wheezing, and that he also improved when taking Advair and albuterol.
  Dr. Raybin opined the employee’s response to Advair and albuterol provided objective evidence of reactive airways disease.
  In addition, he noted the employee never had formal pulmonary function testing when the employee was symptomatic, and the methacholine challenge test, while negative, was performed while he was on Advair, a few months after the employee’s acute inhalational exposure.
  Dr. Raybin also opined the RADS had resolved, as the employee’s pulmonary function tests off medication were normal.
  

Dr. Raybin found the reactive airways disease, with wheezing, cough with purulent sputum, and respiratory distress, was caused by the inhalational exposure in the trailer on November 21, 2004, for the following reasons:  1)  despite a prior history of allergic rhinitis to cats, the employee never had lower respiratory symptoms, bronchitis, dyspnea, or wheezing, previous to the November 21, 2004 exposure;  2)  the November 21, 2004 exposure was to many organic antigens, including human and animal feces and urine, probably dog danders, and possible mold; 3) people with an underlying allergic condition, allergic rhinosinusitis in the case of the employee, are more likely to develop an asthmatic reaction when they suffer a heavy exposure to organic antigens.
  Dr. Raybin opined absent the inhalational exposure of November 21, 2004, the employee would not have developed cough, wheezing and respiratory distress in the subsequent month, so that this environmental exposure was a substantial factor in causing aggravation of the  pre-existing condition of allergic rhinosinusitis.
  Dr. Raybin also noted the pulmonary physician who treated the employee, diagnosed RAD on the basis of physical findings, and Dr. Gerboth, who saw the employee for a pulmonary second opinion, opined the employee had a work related exposure which initiated a significant inflammatory cascade which affected his lungs.
  

Dr. Arora completed a supplemental report dated March 2, 2007, in which he reviewed additional medical records, including Dr. Breall’s February 1, 2007 SIME report, Dr. Sandhu’s November 29, 2005 report, and the July 10, 2006 Providence Hospital report of an admission for variant angina.
   Dr. Arora opined available literature did not support Dr. Breall’s opinion that the intense inflammation of the employee’s November and December 2004 acute respiratory infection triggered his MI.
  Dr. Arora complained Dr. Breall did not present any medical literature to corroborate his opinion.
  Dr. Arora also disagreed with Dr. Breall’s opinion the inhalants the employee was using prior to the MI could have aggravated his coronary vasospasm, thus precipitating the MI.
  Dr. Arora opined that if this were the case, the employee would have given a history of using the albuterol inhaler multiple times, then developing chest pain immediately afterwards, and in this case, the employee did not give that history.
  Dr. Arora further opined that based on a review of the medical literature, the physiology of the heart, and the medical records in this case, one can only come to the reasonable conclusions, as I did in my report, dated September 22, 2005, namely, the coronary artery disease and MI had no causal relationship to the respiratory infection.

On March 9, 2007, the employee testified he was at work at Station 10, when he had difficulty breathing starting around 10 in the morning.
  He testified he used his albuterol, which cleared up his difficulty until about 3:30 in the afternoon, when he starting wheezing, coughing, and having difficulty breathing again.
 He testified at 5 PM he went to PAMC ER.
 The employee told the health care professional at the ER that he had an asthma attack that morning that responded to albuterol treatment, but the symptoms recurred in the afternoon, so he came to PAMC ER for further assessment.
  Sally Balchin, R.N., assessed the employee as having scattered wheezing, and noted the employee was able to speak in short phrases. She noted the employee was not in acute respiratory distress.
  Daniel Safranek, M.D., changed the employee to an Atrovent rather than the albuterol, and requested that the employee followup with his pulmonologist, Dr. Clark.
  On March 9, 2007, Dr. Clark took the employee off work from March 9, 2007 to March 16, 2007.

On March 13, 2007, the employee was seen in the PAMC ER after he awoke with a sudden onset of coughing, choking, and difficulty breathing.
  He was transported to the emergency room by the medics, who noted the employee had 4-5 word dyspnea during the transport.
  The employee reported he tried his medications albuterol and Atrovent, but they did not work.
  Clifford Merchant, M.D., found the employee to have a few scattered wheezes and rhonchi, and diagnosed him with bronchitis.
  He opined the employee did not have a large component of RAD at that time.
  The employee was put on a Z-Pak, an antibiotic, and discharged home.

The employee visited the PAMC ER again on March 14, 2007, for symptoms of difficulty breathing.
  He was evaluated by Stephen Parker, M.D., who found him to have diffused expiratory wheezes throughout his lungs.
  He assessed the employee to have had respiratory distress from an asthma exacerbation which had resolved, and discharged him home with a prescription for prednisone.
  The employee did followup with Dr. Clark on March 14, 2007, and Dr. Clark found the employee to have mild wheezing and diagnosed him with an asthma exacerbation, although he also opined the employee had symptoms of acute bronchitis, which could also trigger symptoms.
  Dr. Clark restarted the employee on Advair, although he opined he might discontinue the Advair after a month or two, as the employee had gone two years without an exacerbation and might not require long-term use of an inhaled steroid or long-acting bronchodilator.
 

On March 27, 2007, the employee was seen again by Dr. Gerboth for increased respiratory difficulty that developed after he started working in a new firehouse.
  The employee was restarted on his Advair and also given a prescription for Atrovent, which he found helpful.
  Dr. Gerboth referred the employee to an allergist for a formal allergy assessment.

The employee’s physician, William Mayer, M.D., stated in his letter of March 28, 2007, the employee was taking Lipitor, fish oil, aspirin, Plavix and Enalapril for his coronary disease and Norvasc, l-arginine and nitroglycerine for his endothelial dysfunction.
  Dr. Mayer indicated the employee also took Foltx and CoQ10, the latter to benefit his muscle aches due to the statin medication, Lipitor.  He also stated the employee’s medications for his lung disease were Advair, Atrovent and albuterol inhalers.
  

The employee was evaluated on April 17, 2007, by Melinda Rothkopf, M.D., of the Allergy Asthma and Immunology Center of Alaska on referral from Dr. Gerboth.
  Dr. Rothkof noted the employee had not needed his albuterol or Atrovent over the prior two weeks.
  She also noted he had stopped his Advair.
 The pulmonary function tests performed showed normal lung function.
  Dr. Rothkopf diagnosed the employee with allergic rhinitis, with minimal nasal and ocular symptoms.
  She diagnosed him with sensitivity to multiple grasses, trees, weeds, molds, cat, dog, dust mite, and cockroach.
  She also diagnosed the employee with asthma, and stated he had a history consistent with RADS due to the “acute exposure to high levels of allergens and toxins in a contaminated home.”  Dr. Rothkopf further opined it was “not uncommon to see asthma persist after such an acute event,” particularly since the employee showed allergic sensitivities to dust, pets, mice and molds, which could have been problematic during that exposure.
  

The employee underwent a stress echocardiography on June 4, 2007.
  Dr. Gray opined in her report the stress echocardiography was negative for ischemia, and showed above average tolerance for exercise and improved cardiovascular efficiency, compared with the previous study of November 2005.

On June 26, 2007, the employee was seen by Linda Holmes, ANP, of the Mat-Su Clinic, prior to removal of his loop recorder.
  The employee reported to ANP Holmes that he had used his nitroglycerin the day before due to left-sided chest pain.
  He reported he had not had to use his nitroglycerin for about a month prior to this recent episode.
 He also reported he used his Atrovent two times per week, but he did not have any complaints of shortness of breath, dizziness, lightheadedness, syncope of palpitations that day.
  On June 28, 2007, the employee had the “loop recorder” removed, after no significant arrhythmias were detected.
  

On August 13, 2007, Dr. Arora issued a supplemental report in which he discussed the February 23, 2007 SIME report of Dr. Raybin.
  Dr. Arora opined Dr. Raybin had concluded the employee’s pulmonary condition had resolved by March of 2005.
 Dr. Arora stated he was “shocked” a pulmonary specialist would believe the employee had RADS and/or asthma as a diagnosis.
  Dr. Arora opined since the employee had a preexisting predisposition such as allergies, and it was Dr. Arora’s opinion the November 2004 exposure was to allergens, not irritants, a diagnosis of RADS was not warranted in the employee’s case.
  Dr. Arora opined the employee’s exposure could not have been to irritants, or the elderly man living in the trailer could not have survived for long.
  Dr. Arora further opined the employee did not have wheezing within 24 hours, as is required before a diagnosis of RADS can be made, in his opinion.
  Dr. Arora opined the employee did not have wheezing when he was evaluated on November 21, 2004, and only developed wheezing on December 22, 2004, related to acute bronchitis, not asthma.

The employee saw Dr. Gray for followup on August 23, 2007,
  and complained of right leg cramping.   Further, the employee reported he was using his nitroglycerin fairly frequently, as needed, which was typical for his discomfort.

On September 5, 2007, Dr. Gerboth opined the employee “is a classic case of RADS with a very high dose exposure to a respiratory irritant that resulted in an inflammatory process within the lungs leaving him with persistent respiratory symptoms after that event occurred.”
  He further opined that, as the employee had to use fewer inhalers and was back to work, his respiratory symptoms were slowly improving, which was consistent with the time frame expected with a RADS initiated event.
  Dr. Gerboth disagreed with Dr. Arora’s opinion that the employee’s preexisting allergies to dogs and cats disqualified the employee for a diagnosis of RADS, as the employee’s allergic symptoms were minimal prior to the November 21, 2004 event.
 

On November 24, 2007, the employee was admitted to PAMC for complaints of chest pain at rest.
  He was admitted to rule out a MI.
  He was discharged the next day with no evidence of a MI.
  Dr. Rhyneer increased the employee’s coronary vasodilator Norvasc.

At the request of Lisa Gray, D.O., the employee underwent a cardiolite stress test on December 3, 2007.
  The results showed no ischemia and above average exercise tolerance for age.
  

The employee saw Dr. Rathkopf for a six month followup appointment on December 20, 2007.
  Dr. Rathkopf noted the employee’s medications were Flonase, loratidine, and Advair, and the employee told her he had increased cough for the last month.
  She also noted the employee had stopped Advair in July and had tried Singulair, using it sporadically, and it had helped with his cough and sinuses a little, and that he wanted to try Singulair again.
  She further commented the employee was using his albuterol one to two times per week, had not had any nocturnal symptoms, and had not had any acute asthma visits.
  On physical examination, Dr. Rathkopf found the employee’s lungs were clear to auscultation bilaterally.
  Spirometry was performed, and it was normal.

2008

Dr. Arora reviewed additional medical records and issued another report on January 16, 2008.
   Dr. Arora opined Dr. Rathkopf’s opinion that the employee had persistent asthma since the work exposure of November 21, 2004, is not compatible with the documented facts in the medical records.
  In Dr. Arora’s opinion, the acute bronchospasm that began on December 22, 2004 was attributable to a respiratory infection in the form of bronchitis and atypical pneumonia.
  Dr. Arora opined since the work exposure did not bring any immediate wheezing or asthma, the wheezing a month later was brought on by a respiratory infection, not asthma.
  He further opined that by January 2005, the employee was back to his pre-injury baseline, according to Dr. Thompson, and that he only continued to use his inhalers because he was not advised to discontinue them until Dr. Smith told him to do so in March 2005.
  In fact, Dr. Arora opined there was no documentation that the employee had active asthma and required the regular use of inhalers.
  Dr. Arora further opined the employee’s onset of wheezing in March of 2007 was due to a respiratory infection and acute bronchitis, and that he was advised to continue the use of his inhalers unnecessarily.
 Additionally, Dr. Arora opined the employee does not have persistent asthma as his pulmonary function tests are normal, and have not declined as would be expected in someone with chronic asthma.
  Dr. Arora diagnosed the employee with atopy, a condition in which individuals have hyper-reactive airways and are prone to develop temporary and reversible inflammation of the airways, which is what Dr. Arora opined happened in the employee’s case in December of 2004 and March of 2007.

Dr. Rhyneer stated in his letter of February 20, 2008, that the employee is under the care of Alaska Heart Institute for endothelial dysfunction and coronary spasm.
  The employee’s medications were Norvasc, Plavix, enalapril, Lipitor, folic acid, aspirin, and L-arginine to assist with risk factor modification and treatment of endothelial dysfunction, and were recommended by Dr. Mayer.

Dr. Gerboth evaluated the employee on April 16, 2008, for “chest tightness” and problems with deep breathing for the prior month, corresponding with the snow melt.
  The employee told Dr. Gerboth he had to use his rescue inhalers more often.
  On physical examination, Dr. Gerboth noted the employee did not have any obvious dyspnea and no wheezing was noted.
  Dr. Gerboth opined the employee had some RAD and started him back on Advair.
  

Dr. Rathkopf evaluated the employee on April 29, 2008. Spirometry was performed, which was normal.

On April 30, 2008, Dr. Arora issued an additional opinion, this time on the employee’s “alleged occupational asthma.”
 Dr. Arora diagnosed the employee with IgE mediated allergic diathesis, a component of what Dr. Arora termed the employee’s atopic condition.
  He opined the employee’s primary problem is sinus congestion and allergies, not asthma.
  Dr. Arora analyzed the employee’s November 21, 2004 work exposure as causing an allergic reaction that caused rhinitis and edema of the throat, but did not cause bronchospasm.
 He further opined the employee developed acute bronchitis and atypical pneumonia a month later, which resulted in severe bronchospasm, which resolved in March of 2005.
  Dr. Arora opined between March 2005 and March 2007, there was no documentation the employee had persistent asthma.
  Further, he stated the employee told him at the time of the September 2005 EME that he had not used his bronchodilators since March of 2005 on the advice of his treating physicians.
 Dr. Arora noted Advair, the anti-inflammatory agent for chronic asthma, was discontinued in July 2007.
  Dr. Arora reviewed the medical records from the employee’s evaluation by Dr. Rathkopf in December of 2007, during which the employee complained of increased cough for the prior month, which started with a flu-like illness.
  Dr. Arora noted Dr. Rathkopf’s clinic note showed the employee was taking Flonase, Atrovent, and albuterol as needed.
  He further noted the pulmonary function tests performed in July of 2007 and December of 2007, were both normal.
  Dr. Arora opined the new medical records from the employee’s December 2007 follow up visit with Dr. Rathkopf only showed the same pattern of illness, that is a problem of environmental allergies and sinus congestion, without acute exacerbations of asthma.
  Dr. Arora opined it is respiratory infections that cause the employee’s problems with bronchospasm, in the form of wheezing or cough, and that there is no persistent asthma.
  He opined the discontinuation of the medication Advair supports his opinion.
  Dr. Arora summarized by opining the employee’s present respiratory conditions consisted of allergic rhinitis, sinusitis and periodic bronchospasm, none of which were caused by the work exposure of November 21, 2004.

III.  DEPOSITION TESTIMONY AND HEARING TESTIMONY

A. Dr. Breall’s March 15, 2007 Deposition Testimony
Dr. Breall testified the causes of CAS are not really known, but coronary spasm superimposed on atherosclerotic buildup that causes only a 40% obstruction can turn that 40% into an 80%, 90% or 100% obstruction, which causes problems.
  He testified there is an increased incident of coronary vasospasm in people with atherosclerosis, smokers and in individuals under physical or emotional stress.
  He further testified if an individual has coronary artery vasospasm, that individual should not be given beta blocker medication; and the employee’s beta blocker had been discontinued after it was discovered he had coronary artery vasospasm.

Dr. Breall first testified the fact the December 30, 2004 cardiac catheterization showed no evidence of thrombus or blood clot, was not of major significance,
 as it could suggest the employee had CAS superimposed on a 90% lesion.
  He further testified the employee’s MI was a mild one and the echocardiogram performed on March 8, 2005, showed his heart muscle had completely recovered from the MI with no evidence of residual scarring.
  He also testified there would be minimal scarring due to the MI, but it would not have any impact on any future heart problems.

Regarding the cause of the CAS, Dr. Breall testified an acute respiratory infection can cause spasm, but regarding the employee, ongoing spasms after the MI would not be related to the acute respiratory infection, once it had been cleared up.
  He also testified the acute physical and emotional stress caused by an acute respiratory inflammation or infection can cause CAS.
  In addition, he testified the inhalants the employee was taking for his respiratory condition can cause CAS.
  Dr. Breall testified that to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, the employee’s MI was related to the respiratory infection or inflammation.
  

Dr. Breall testified whether the employee’s CAS preexisted the work exposure or was caused by the work exposure, there was no evidence to say one way or the other.
 He testified there is no medical evidence the employee did have CAS  prior to the work exposure, and there is such evidence after the time of the MI.
 He also testified once a person has CAS, that person may be sensitized to having CAS thereafter.
  In addition, he testified there is no way to determine whether CAS occurred at the time of the MI.
  In addition, Dr. Breall testified that once it was recognized the employee had CAS, his beta blocker was discontinued.
  He testified the employee is on Norvasc, a calcium channel-blocking agent, a medication used to prevent recurrence of CAS.

B.  Dr. Mayer’s June 22, 2007 Deposition Testimony 

Dr. Mayer testified at his deposition on June 22, 2007, that in general, people who have endothelial dysfunction get spasm of their arteries when their arteries should open up.
  He testified he agreed with Dr. Breall’s statement that “whenever you have atherosclerosis, there is damage to the endothelium.
 Whenever you have CAS, which means you have not had normal function of coronary arteries, presumably because of abnormalities in the endothelium.”
  He explained that the endothelium of the coronary arteries is like a thin layer of Saran wrap, which allows the blood to flow by without clotting, and releases chemicals which cause the arteries to open.
  He testified if the endothelium is affected by atherosclerosis, it may not release those chemicals, or release chemicals that cause the arteries to go into spasm.
  Dr. Mayer testified it was most likely the November 2004 exposure that somehow disrupted the endothelial layer, causing a clot to form and the arteries to occlude.
  He testified it was his understanding the employee continued to have chest pain after his stent procedure in December of 2004, and was referred to the Mayo Clinic in November of 2005, when he was diagnosed with endothelial dysfunction.
 Dr. Mayer testified the employee’s underlying atherosclerosis was not precipitated or made any worse by the November 2004 exposure.
  He further testified the chest pain the employee experienced after the exposure and after the MI may have been due to CAS.
  He also testified he could not say with a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the employee’s CAS was aggravated by the exposure, but he could say the CAS was certainly not aggravated by the MI.
  He further testified any treatment for ongoing atherosclerosis after March of 2005, would not be related to the work exposure.
  Dr. Mayer testified although the employee’s first stent placement was to treat his MI, subsequent stent placements were to treat chronic atherosclerosis.
 Dr. Mayer testified the effects of the December 2004 MI were completely resolved after six weeks.
  He also testified the employee was still on two medications related to his December 2004 MI, Vasotec and Plavix, the latter of which was given due to the stent procedure the employee underwent to treat his MI in December, 2004.
  Dr. Mayer further testified his recommendation would be for the employee to continue the Plavix indefinitely.

Regarding the question of whether an allergic reaction can be a cause of CAS, Dr. Mayer testified the most common cause of CAS is atherosclerosis.
  He testified he did not doubt it was possible for vasospasm to be caused by histamine, but he did not know if it would be a continuing problem.
  He opined the vasospasm would occur when the histamine is released during the allergic reaction.

Dr. Mayer testified concerning the employee’s medication Toprol-XL, as follows:

Beta blockers like metoprolol, also called Lopressor, also may be sold as Toprol, are – every heart attack patient we would like to put on a beta blocker, both initially when they show up and chronically when they leave… …[A] problem [with beta blockers] is people who have demonstrated vasospasm, the beta blockers may actually worsen that….  Those that continue to have chest pain due to vasospasm, one of the things that comes to mind is whether they’re on a beta blocker, and if you stop the beta blocker, will that get better.
   

Dr. Mayer further opined the employee was prescribed a beta blocker because of his myocardial infarction.
  He testified that after the employee was diagnosed with coronary artery vasospasm at the Mayo Clinic, the doctors there started the employee on Norvasc, which can prevent vasospasm, and discontinued the beta blocker, as beta blockers can cause bronchospasm and exacerbate preexisting CAS.
  

C.  Dr. Singh’s September 5, 2007 Deposition Testimony

Dr. Singh testified he is board certified in internal medicine and cardiology.
  He testified he has been in private practice for about 24 years, with about 80% of that time in cardiology.
  He testified his statement in his March 19, 2007 EME report that there was no evidence of plaque rupture on the employee’s December 30, 2004 angiogram, meant the 90% stenosis found in the employee’s artery was due to coronary artherosclerosis, which was a preexisting condition.
  He testified the cause of the employee’s MI was coronary vasospasm superimposed on the 90% blockage.
  He also testified the employee’s respiratory condition and his CAS were not related, as after his MI, on multiple occasions he had chest pains when he did not have respiratory problems, so there was no direct link of cause and effect.
  Dr. Singh testified it was his opinion there was no relation between the exposure of November 21, 2004, and the CAS and endothelial dysfunction suffered by the employee.
  He testified those conditions were caused by the atherosclerosis, and in addition, an MI due to any acute episode has to occur at the point in time when the precipitating factor occurs.
  He testified the episode of November 21, 2004 could not cause an MI a month later.

Dr. Singh testified the reason for the stent placement in the employee during his December 30, 2004 MI was the 90% stenosis, not because of the MI.
  He testified that in a patient having an MI, which in the most common scenario is due to blockage cause by clot formation, if the underlying stenosis in the artery is less than 50%, no stent is placed.
  Dr. Singh testified he agreed with Dr. Arora’s opinion that based on the normal stress echo study performed on March 8, 2005, the employee did not suffer any permanent impairment due to his MI.
  Dr. Singh further testified any ongoing treatment the employee received for coronary vasospasm after March of 2005, was unrelated to his exposure of November 2004, and neither the employee’s coronary vasospasm or his endothelial dysfunction was related to, aggravated or accelerated by the November 2004 exposure.
  Dr. Singh also testified that after November 2004, coronary spasm suffered by the employee could have been aggravated by an acute episode of wheezing and subsequent treatment with bronchodilators.

D. Dr. Rathkopf’s September 7, 2007 Deposition Testimony and Hearing Testimony

At her September 7, 2007 deposition, Dr. Rathkopf testified she is board certified by the American Board of Allergy and Immunology, which is a subspecialty of internal medicine and pediatrics.
  She testified she is a board-certified pediatrician, and also completed an additional two years training before certification in allergy and immunology.
  In addition, she testified she is a clinical assistant professor of pediatrics at the University of Washington.
  Dr. Rathkopf testified in her opinion the work exposure of November 21, 2004, is a significant factor in the employee’s current condition.
  She testified she felt that after the work exposure the employee developed persistent asthma and will require ongoing treatment for asthma.
  She opined the employee had a high level allergen exposure rather than a toxic exposure, as is required to trigger RADS.
  She opined the employee had asthma rather than RADS, but that the treatment and ongoing care was the same regardless of the diagnosis.
  

Dr. Rathkopf testified she had formed her opinion concerning the employee’s condition and its relation to his exposure in November of 2004, before she had any contact with the employee’s attorney.
  Dr. Rathkopf reviewed Dr. Arora’s report, in which Dr. Arora made the comment about a major asthma gene, for which there is a test.
  Dr. Rathkopf testified asthma is a multifactorial disease, in which genetics plays a role, but in which environment plays a major role as well.
  Dr. Rathkopf testified the article upon which Dr. Arora relied for the proposition there is a single asthma gene was a 1995 article in the New England Journal of Medicine (“NEJM”), authored by Dr. D.S. Postama, and that the article did not in fact conclude there was a single asthma gene, which could be tested for.
  Dr. Rathkopf testified the article stated the “study demonstrated that trait for an elevated level of total IgE is co-inherited with a trait for bronchial hyperresponsiveness and that this gene…is consistent with the existence of one or more genes on chromosome 5q31 to 33 causing susceptibility to asthma.”
  Dr. Rathkopf testified there had been a great deal of research done and articles published since the 1995 article. She testified one in particular, in which Dr. Postama was also an author, was published in November of 2005 in Genetics in Asthma and Allergy, Immunology and Allergy Clinics of North America, Vol. 25, Issue 4, and the authors concluded asthma and atopy are complex genetic diseases, and the development of diseases results from an interplay between multiple genes and environmental factors.
  She testified the article stated although 5q31/33 was one of the earlier genetic locuses determined to play a role in asthma, there are 64 candidate asthma genes that may contribute to the development of asthma and atopy.

Dr. Rathkopf testified asthma is a “clinical diagnosis, which is a recurrent pattern of lower airway symptoms, bronchial hyperreactivity, meaning the airways react to a stimulus…  [y]ou get symptoms of cough, wheezing, shortness of breath…[i]t is reversible, meaning with removal of those irritating exposures, allergens whatever, it can reverse and normalize—or with medications.”
  She further testified the symptoms of asthma are wheezing, cough, chest tightness, and shortness of breath, and that some individuals cough more than wheeze.
  She testified the fact the employee’s pulmonary function tests were normal did not rule out asthma, as the employee was feeling well when he saw her, and was on medication.
  Dr. Rathkopf testified the employee had never had pulmonary function tests done when he was symptomatic.
  She further testified the best test to rule out asthma would be a negative methacholine challenge test while the employee was off medication.
  She also testified asthma was a clinical diagnosis and it is not ruled out by objective testing.
 Dr. Rathkopf testified the employee’s asthma condition was currently stable, but not resolved, and he would need ongoing treatment.
  

At hearing, Dr. Rathkopf testified the employee needed Advair for the treatment of his asthma, as when he had tried to decrease this medication, his symptoms increased. She further testified she had prescribed Singulair and discontinued the employee’s Advair, but his symptoms increased so that he had to go back on his Advair, which she testified is a drug to control asthma symptoms and prevent flare ups, while albuterol is a short-acting, rescue medication.  Dr. Rathkopf further testified it is not unusual to change, increase and decrease medications in the diagnostic and treatment process.  She testified it was her opinion the work exposure exacerbated and brought out symptoms the employee did not have before the exposure, and the employee is currently being treated for the consequences of the work exposure.

Dr. Rathkopf testified asthma is a recurrent pattern of lower airway symptoms, and there is no definition of the  number of times an individual must have symptoms in order to be given a diagnosis of asthma.  She testified asthma and allergies wax and wane so that medical stability can also wax and wane.  She also testified an abnormal spirometry test is not necessary to make a diagnosis of asthma, as the diagnosis is made based on multiple references.  She testified she used the National Institutes of Health Guidelines
 to make a diagnosis of asthma, not the AMA Guides on the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment.
  Additionally, she testified when she conducted spirometry tests on the employee, he was either on medication or asymptomatic.

E. Dr. Arora’s April 8, 2008 Deposition Testimony and Hearing Testimony

On April 28, 2008, Dr. Arora participated in a telephonic deposition.
  He testified he has an active private practice in internal medicine, which includes cardiology and pulmonary medicine, but that he is not board certified in pulmonology, cardiology, or allergy and immunology.
 He also testified he is board certified in forensic medicine and board qualified, but not board certified in toxicology.
 Dr. Arora testified his opinion in pulmonary medicine would be as valid as a pulmonary specialist’s opinion, as specialists do nothing more than some additional procedures that he had not learned.
 He testified he had issued four reports in the instant case, and there were no restrictions placed on the amount of time or the cost he was allowed to incur in preparing those reports.
  He further testified he reviewed all his reports prior to the April 28, 2008 deposition and did not recall any errors.
  Dr. Arora testified he examined the employee only once, in September of 2005.
  He conceded if the employee had developed a continuing pulmonary condition, the employee’s treating physician would have a better understanding of the patient’s condition than he did.
  He further testified he concluded in September 2005, when he evaluated the employee, that any pulmonary condition resulting from the November 21, 2004 exposure had resolved, and a primary factor in this conclusion was his belief the employee had been off the medications Advair and albuterol since March of 2005.
  Dr. Arora testified the employee told him he was not taking these medications after March of 2005.
  However, Dr. Arora also testified he did not believe the employee suffered from RADS, as RADS is a relatively rare form of occupational asthma resulting from an irritant, not allergens such as the employee was exposed to.
  He further testified he did not totally believe the employee suffered from a pulmonary condition related to the November 2004 exposure, as an allergic exposure would cause wheezing instantly, not later, as happened with the employee.
  He testified an essential fact to his conclusion the November 2004 exposure did not cause the employee’s pulmonary condition was his belief that the employee had no symptoms consistent with asthma or RADS between November 21, 2004 and December 28, 2004.

Dr. Arora testified a primary factor in his conclusion the employee’s pulmonary condition had resolved by March of 2005 was his belief the employee was off both Advair and albuterol by March of 2005.
 He testified the employee’s treatment for his pulmonary condition was reasonable from December 2004 to March of 2005 and in March of 2007.
  Dr. Arora testified that in the records he had been given, there was no documented evidence the employee required ongoing treatment for asthma or RADS from March 2005 until March of 2007, other than one mention of using the albuterol inhaler to Dr. Raybin, and when Dr. Gerboth recommended the employee continue his use of Advair and albuterol in April of 2005.
  He also testified there was no evidence the employee had allergic symptoms of any clinical significance prior to November of 2004.
 

At hearing, Dr. Arora testified concerning his education and experience, which included a Master’s degree in chemistry and teaching as a professor in organic chemistry, all in India.  He testified he came to the United States as a Fulbright scholar in 1969, and subsequently earned his PhD in organic chemistry in 1976.  He testified he was a postdoctoral fellow in pharmacy, as well as teaching organic chemistry at the University of California. He testified he began studying medicine in 1977 at the University of California in San Francisco, graduating in 1981.  He testified he received board certification in internal medicine in 1984, in geriatrics in 1988 (expired in 1998), in forensic medicine, and is board eligible in toxicology.  

He testified he is an internist who is trained to assess any adult illness, to look at a patient as a whole and treat for any condition, including patients with multiple problems, where he has an advantage as he is able to develop a program of treatment for an individual keeping in mind all of the individual’s diagnoses and how they interact.  He testified his specialty of internal medicine gives him the expertise in all areas of internal medicine, including cardiology, pulmonary disease, infectious disease, gastroenterology, immunology, endocrinology, neurology, and dermatology.  Dr. Arora testified he is in private practice and diagnoses and treats patients with allergies, RADS, asthma, hypertension, heart disease, and diabetes, all the internal medicine diseases in fact.  Dr. Arora testified a cardiologist is different from him only in that if the patient requires an invasive procedure, such as cardiac catheterization, stent placement, or a pacemaker, then he is not trained to do those.  Dr. Arora testified if he had wanted to become a cardiologist, he would have spent two years learning to do procedures, as that is basically the fellowship. He testified as far as treating cardiac conditions, he is the same as a cardiologist, the only difference is a cardiologist is trained to do invasive procedures.  He further testified he has treated cardiac and pulmonary patients for years. Dr. Arora also testified he is trained to diagnosis and treat any pulmonary condition. He testified that a board certified pulmonologist is also trained to do invasive procedures, such as biopsies and bronchoscopies, which he himself cannot do.  Other than these invasive procedures, he testified he is trained to diagnose and treat any pulmonary disease, and it is only for the invasive procedures that he needs assistance from a pulmonologist.  

Dr. Arora testified he has served as a qualified medical examiner for workers’ compensation cases in California, for which a doctor has to pass an exam demonstrating knowledge of medicine as well as the law relating to workers’ compensation.  Dr. Arora testified he has served as an expert witness for both plaintiffs and defendants, and has also testified before the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board before. He testified he has served as medical examiner in asbestos cases and other exposure cases.  He testified forensic medicine is investigative medicine, which is a difficult and complicated process in which one finds the diagnosis and the cause of the diagnosis.  

He testified whether he is an EME doctor or an SIME doctor, the process is the same, and he takes the facts and the proper science, fits them together, and whatever comes out, comes out.  He further testified he finds compensability all the time in both his California and Alaska cases.

Dr. Arora testified at length considering the diagnosis of acute and chronic bronchitis.  He testified acute bronchitis is a frequent diagnosis in adults, and some of the differential diagnoses for symptoms of acute bronchitis are pneumonia, lung abscess, asthma, and post nasal drip, as post nasal drip can cause coughing and wheezing.  He testified he does prescribe albuterol and/or Advair for acute bronchitis where there is post-infection bronchospasm.  

Dr. Arora also testified concerning the diagnosis of RADS, relying in part on the expertise of a Dr. Brooks.
  He testified he attended a conference where Dr. Brooks spoke in the 1990’s.  He testified RADS is a reactive response of the airways to a high level of exposure to a chemical, which causes an inflammatory response, which can last a variable amount of time.  He testified asthma is also the result of an inflammatory response.  Dr. Arora testified in RADS, the substance that causes the disease is an irritant, at high dose, whereas the substance that causes asthma is an allergen, and the dose may be minimal after the individual has been sensitized.  Referring again to the criteria laid out by Dr. Brooks for the diagnosis of RADS, Dr. Arora testified Dr. Brooks was very careful to include only those who had a documented absence of preceding respiratory complaints.  Dr. Arora also testified the employee’s allergic rhinitis prior to the exposure was an example of a preceding respiratory complaint.  Dr. Arora testified he was critical of the opinion of Dr. Gerboth expressed in his September 5, 2007 letter to Mr. Croft.  Dr. Arora testified concerning an article given to him by Dr. Gerboth from 1996 written by a Dr. Alberts, in which the first criteria listed in a revised list of criteria for the diagnosis of RADS is “total absence of preceding respiratory disease in a nonatopic person.”
  Dr. Arora testified these were the revised criteria to which Dr. Gerboth was referring, and atopic individuals had to be excluded, as atopy can mimic asthma.  Dr. Arora then testified concerning an article written by Dr. Brooks in 2008, in which there is another list of criteria for the diagnosis of RADS, and this list of criteria also excludes those with preexisting respiratory disorders from the diagnosis. Dr. Arora also testified concerning the high level exposure required for a diagnosis of RADS, saying the man who was living in the trailer for weeks or months would have been dead in two hours if there was a high level exposure of irritant in the trailer.   Dr. Arora testified the reasons for his opinion the employee did not have RADS were as follows:  1) there was not a high level of exposure in the environment of the trailer, as a high level of exposure would have caused wheezing within 24 hours; 2) the employee did not have a pulmonary problem until a month later, when he developed bronchitis and wheezing; and 3) the employee’s prior history of allergies.  

Dr. Arora testified that when he evaluated the employee on September 22, 2005, the employee told him his lungs had been normal and he had not required any albuterol since March of 2005, and also that he had stopped using his Advair.  Dr. Arora acknowledged the medical records he received subsequently showed other medical providers were prescribing Advair and albuterol.  He also testified even if the employee was taking Advair and albuterol for the period from March 2005 to September 22, 2005, when Dr. Arora saw the employee, it would not change Dr. Arora’s opinion the employee’s pulmonary condition, which he opined was acute bronchitis rather than asthma or RADS, had resolved by March 25, 2005. 

Dr. Arora noted the employee complained of lingering cough after the November 21, 2004 exposure, which became worse before he sought treatment on December 22, 2004, and which the employee thought was the flu.  Dr. Arora attributed the worsening of the employee’s respiratory condition to acute bronchitis.  Dr. Arora further testified the employee was prescribed Levaquin on December 27, 2004 at US Healthworks, where he was diagnosed with atypical pneumonia.   Dr. Arora testified the cough from which the employee suffered from the time of the exposure on November 21, 2004 until December 22, 2004, was probably due to post nasal drip, which is the most common cause of cough.  He testified the cough and wheezing from which the employee suffered in late December, 2004 was due to acute bronchitis.  Dr. Arora testified he had reviewed all of the medical records, and the employee was not found to have wheezing again after March of 2005 until March of 2007, when Dr. Arora opined the employee again had acute bronchitis.  Dr. Arora testified the employee’s being on Advair and albuterol could account for the lack of wheezing found on physical examination.  However he also testified in his review of the medical records he could not find single instance in which Advair was started due to wheezing.

Dr. Arora testified asthma is an obstructive disease with evidence of the reversibility of airway obstruction, as demonstrated by a spirometry test before and after treatment with albuterol.  He testified the June 9, 2004 spirometry test the employee had before the work exposure was normal, and could serve as a baseline against which subsequent spirometry tests could be measured.  Dr. Arora testified all the spirometry tests, or PFT’s, performed on the employee were normal. Dr. Arora testified he was aware the employee had been treated with Advair and albuterol and was taking those medications in March of 2005, but his diagnosis of the employee’s condition is acute bronchitis, which resolved by March of 2005.  He further testified if one assumes the employee’s asthma manifests as a cough rather than wheezing, then a PFT must be done to find if there is reversible airway obstruction.  Dr. Arora also testified that the December 20, 2007 normal spirometry performed on the employee during his followup visit to Dr. Rathkopf, shows that the employee had normal spirometry when he was symptomatic with a cough, as he reported to Dr. Rathkopf that he had increased cough for the prior month. Dr. Arora testified this evidence that spirometry was performed when the employee was symptomatic was overlooked or not given due attention. Dr. Arora testified the normal spirometry performed on April 29, 2008, and evaluated by Dr. Rathkopf as normal, done when the employee was back on Advair as prescribed by Dr. Gerboth, is further evidence the Advair did not affect the employee’s bronchial reactivity.  He testified this is further evidence the employee’s cough was caused by post nasal drip.  Dr. Arora opined the employee does not suffer from asthma and any effects on the employee’s pulmonary condition resulting from the November 21, 2004 exposure had resolved by March 25, 2005. Dr. Arora testified he had previously testified in his deposition of April 28, 2008, documented on pages 42 to 43, that if the employee had used Advair and albuterol continually, under a doctor’s supervision and knowledge, from December 22, 2004, and continuing for more than a year, that it would be inconsistent with his opinion the employee did not have asthma.  He testified he had reviewed all of the medical records since that time, and it had not changed his opinion, as although the employee may have been on Advair and albuterol, it was probably not under the direction of a physician, or not properly prescribed.

Concerning the employee’s cardiac condition, Dr. Arora testified the employee’s stent placements in his RCA in October of 2005, and in his LAD in November of 2005, were to treat the employee’s preexisting atherosclerosis, not CAS.  He further testified the employee’s treatment for CAS is the medication Norvasc.  He agreed with the opinions of Dr. Mayer and Dr. Breall, who both testified the employee’s CAS was related to the preexisting atherosclerosis.  Dr. Arora testified the employee’s CAS was neither caused or made worse by either the November 2004 exposure or the December 2004 MI.  

F.  Hearing Testimony of Dr. Gerboth

Dr. Gerboth testified he is a board certified pulmonologist.  He testified he used the diagnosis of RAD and RADS interchangeably in his reports, and that he had reviewed Dr. Arora’s report and met with the employee and his attorney before writing his September 2007 report.  Dr. Gerboth testified the diagnosis of asthma can be made without PFT’s or spirometry, and PFT’s would only be expected to show asthma if the employee was symptomatic.  He testified he did not support Dr. Arora’s contention that the employee’s condition was atopy, not RADS or asthma.  He testified atopy is a marker of susceptibility, not a condition.  He further testified the employee’s atopic symptoms were minimal before his November 21, 2004 work injury.  Dr. Gerboth testified the proper diagnosis for the employee was RADS, but that whether the employee had RADS or asthma, the treatment was the same.  He testified the employee’s need for treatment for his RADS or asthma in the past and in the future is related to his work exposure.  Concerning Dr. Brooks’ article on the diagnosis of classic RADS, which precluded prior allergies, Dr. Gerboth testified subsequent articles have stated the diagnosis of RADS is appropriate with prior allergies.

H. Hearing Testimony of Dr. Raybin

Dr. Raybin testified he was board certified as a pulmonologist, which is a subspecialty of internal medicine. He testified he has 25 years of experience in pulmonary disease, critical care, and occupational lung disease. He testified he had performed research at the Heart and Lung Institute at the National Institutes of Health. Dr. Raybin testified he saw the employee on January 25, 2007, and authored an SIME report dated February 23, 2007.  He testified he diagnosed the employee with RADS and/or asthma, based on the employee’s history, which was corroborated in the medical records.  Dr. Raybin testified he relied on the fact the employee had never had asthma, cough, wheezing, or dyspnea prior to the November 21, 2004 exposure, but developed severe, acute symptoms after the exposure.  He testified he also relied on the employee’s history of persistent cough for a month after the work exposure, which was confirmed by the history given to the ER doctors in December of 2004.  Dr. Raybin testified the time course of the employee’s symptoms is extremely important in connecting the work exposure to the RADS and/or asthma the employee developed.  He testified there is a well documented history of the employee’s development of a cough a short time after the exposure.  He testified this is a case where you have an individual who had no symptoms prior to the exposure, then develops a whole constellation of well documented symptoms and findings, documented in the medical records, over the course of the next few months that are fairly severe and acute.  He testified he also relied on the fact the employee’s symptoms of cough and wheezing responded to Advair and albuterol, consistent with a diagnosis of RADS and asthma, but not sinusitis or rhinitis.  

Dr. Raybin testified a classic case of RADS, as described by Dr. Stuart Brooks, requires an acute irritant exposure, and he was not sure the employee had this, but the employee still had a classic case of asthma.  He testified the term RADS is not used much in the field of occupational medicine, although it is still used in the AMA Guides. He testified the employee seemed to have been exposed primarily to antigens, whereas a classic case of RADS required a toxic exposure to  an irritant, and that is why he diagnosed the employee with RADS and/or asthma.  Dr. Raybin testified RADS is a type of asthma, and some people call RADS irritant asthma, but he concluded the employee’s case was not a classic for RADS, but was classic for asthma.  
Dr. Raybin testified atopy is a set of three illnesses related to allergy; that is, allergic rhinitis, eczema, and asthma.  He testified all agree the employee has a history of allergic rhinitis, as well as a history of childhood eczema, but not asthma.  He testified if the employee had not had the November 21, 2004 exposure in the trailer, he would not have developed asthma at the time he developed it.  Dr. Raybin testified he was not talking about the asthma the employee has today, but the asthma the employee had at the time of his January 25, 2007 exam.  

Dr. Raybin testified the medication Advair is actually two medications, the first is a steroid and the second is the long-acting beta adrenergic agonist salmeterol, and in the three different strengths of Advair, it is only the dose of the steroid that changes.  He testified standard practice is to use the lowest possible dose of the steroid, so that the employee’s treatment with Advair, including the attempts to reduce the dose, was standard treatment.  In addition, Dr. Raybin testified if an individual requires more albuterol when his Advair is reduced, it is an indication his asthma is under less control, and that some type of anti-inflammatory therapy, such as Advair, is needed. Dr. Raybin testified an individual’s need for Advair and albuterol over a period of two years would not necessarily mean that individual would need the medication for the rest of his or her life, as asthma can go into permanent remission.  Dr. Raybin testified asthma is characterized by exacerbations and remissions and an up and down course, so one would have to look at a period of time to see if the patient was stable.  In addition, he testified an individual might be stable on medication and be considered medically stable under Alaska law.  He also testified if the medication was discontinued and the individual’s condition worsened, it would not mean the individual was not stable, but that he or she needed the medication.  Dr. Raybin testified medical stability is not the same as cured.  However, he also testified an individual would not be considered to be cured unless he or she was stable off medication.  He testified the March 2007 flare up of the employee’s condition could mean his asthma had returned, and spirometry should have been done at that time.  He also testified the flare up of symptoms the employee had in March of 2007 was not necessarily related to the November 21, 2004 incident.  Dr. Raybin testified the peak flow measurements done in the ER in March of 2007 are not as definitive or reliable as spirometry in the diagnosis of asthma, but were nevertheless consistent with the diagnosis of asthma. He testified since there was a significant period when the employee’s asthma symptoms were quiescent, the March 2007 flare may have been caused by something else.  He further testified the way to determine if the employee still has asthma is to do a methacholine challenge test while the employee is not on medication, but only if a cardiologist approves. Dr. Raybin also testified concerning Dr. Arora’s August 2007 report, saying he agreed only with Dr. Arora’s opinion a methacholine challenge test is the best way to determine if the employee still has asthma.  Dr. Raybin further testified another way to determine if the employee still has asthma is to do spirometry while he is symptomatic with cough and shortness of breath.

Dr. Raybin testified concerning the differential diagnosis of the employee’s pulmonary condition, and stated those included sinusitis, pneumonia, post-nasal drip and acute bronchitis.  He testified he diagnosed the employee with asthma as the wheezing suffered by the employee led to the diagnosis of asthma or acute bronchitis.  He testified since the employee’s month long cough ruled out the diagnosis of acute bronchitis, the employee’s diagnosis was asthma.  Dr. Raybin testified it would be ideal to have spirometry when the employee was symptomatic.  However, he also testified if the spirometry was not conducted, the physician must use the information available to make a diagnosis.  He testified in the interests of fairness and justice, you cannot rule out the diagnosis of asthma because the appropriate tests were not conducted.  Dr. Raybin concluded by testifying it was still his opinion the employee’s diagnosis is asthma, which was caused by the work exposure, and he was not medically stable until his SIME examination in January of 2007.  He again testified he cannot say if the continuance of the asthma is related to the November 21, 2004 exposure or some other cause, and more information is needed to determine whether the employee currently has asthma. Dr. Raybin also testified whether the asthma the employee might develop in the future is due to the work injury would still be an open question, as there was no science he knew of that could answer that question.

I. Testimony of Employee’s Witness Kenneth Outten

The employee’s witness, Mr. Outten, testified he was an emergency medical technician (“EMT”) II in November 21, 2004, when he was working with the employee.  He testified he had worked as an EMT about 18 years, and had responded to about 20,000 calls in that time.  He testified the conditions at the trailer, where the elderly gentleman whose call they responded to was. were the worst he had ever been in.  He said it stank to high heaven, and there was refuse, dog and rodent feces, as well as mice, and the floor had rotted through in several spots and only the floor joints were left.  He testified he avoided breathing the air in the trailer.  Mr. Outten testified they made sure no one else was in the trailer and spent 10 to 20 minutes convincing the man something needed to be done.  He testified the man did not look well and they wanted to get him into the system so he could receive long term care. Once they got him in the ambulance, they discovered his oxygen saturation, which should not be below 95%, was only 77%.  Once they had taken the man to the hospital, he testified both he and the employee took showers after returning to the station, due to the exposure at the trailer.  He testified that is the only time he has felt it necessary to take a shower after returning from a call in all his 18 years as an EMT. Mr. Outten testified the employee developed red, watery eyes, a runny nose, and a cough, so he took him to the Providence Hospital ER in an ambulance.  He also testified the employee is an excellent paramedic, a strong patient advocate, with a reputation for honesty and truthfulness.

J. Testimony of the Employee’s Witness, Marilyn Johnson

Mrs. Johnson testified she and the employee have been married for 25 years, and that during the time prior to November 21, 2004, the employee had been healthy,  physically active, and without medical problems.  She testified he had received no medical treatment and taken no medications.  She also testified he had a mild allergy to cats, such that if he spent too much time near cats, he developed a runny nose, but he had not required or received any treatment for this.  Mrs. Johnson testified that when she saw the employee after the work exposure, he was coughing constantly and had a stuffy nose.  She testified during the time from November 21, 2004 to December 22, 2004 and afterward, the employee continued to have a constant cough, shortness of breath, and difficulty breathing.  She testified she had never seen the employee have such a response before.  Mrs. Johnson also testified the employee had been treated continually for his pulmonary condition from November 21, 2004 to May 28, 2008.  She testified he had been on the medications Advair, albuterol and Atrovent continually during that time, and that he always had his inhaler with him.  She testified he had tried to stop Advair and albuterol, but could not, so he is now on Advair and albuterol. Mrs. Johnson testified when the employee tried to wean off Advair, his use of albuterol increased.  She further testified he uses his Advair one to two times a day.

K. Testimony of the Employee

The employee testified he had received training as a paramedic for one year, from 1989 to 1990, at Oregon Health Sciences, and he was trained in the treatment of all forms of life threatening and non life threatening conditions, from stubbed toes to heart attacks. He testified that prior to November 21, 2004, he had not been diagnosed or treated or had a disability due to any pulmonary or cardiac condition.  He testified on November 21, 2004, he had spent 10 to 15 minutes inside the trailer where the exposure took place, and when he got back to the station he changed his uniform due to the contamination from the contents of the trailer.  He testified he developed a runny nose, watery, red eyes, and facial swelling at the station, and on the way the ER, he started to cough.  At the ER, he testified he was treated for allergy, but at home, the cough continued and in fact got worse, but he treated it with over-the-counter (“OTC”) medications.  He testified that on December 29, 2004, he had a bad cough and severe chest pain, so he was taken to the PAMC ER by the medics and released after his breathing came under control with treatment.  However, he further testified he had an irregular heartbeat on the way home, and returned to PAMC, where he was diagnosed with an acute MI. He testified he saw Dr. Clark for his pulmonary condition on January 1st or 2nd of 2005, and Dr. Clark prescribed Advair, albuterol and cough medications.  The employee testified Dr. Clark began weaning him off Advair on September 13, 2005, but he does not believe he ever stopped taking it.  He testified he has tried to stop taking Advair, but has always had to start taking it again, and still takes both Advair and albuterol, as well as Atrovent for his asthma, and, in addition, was told by his doctor he would have to take these medications for the rest of his life. He testified he does not use albuterol every day, but he does take Advair everyday.  In addition, he testified Dr. Gerboth sometimes gives him samples of Advair, and the Advair he is currently taking is one such sample. The employee further testified he always took his Advair and albuterol under a prescription from his doctor. He also testified he will have to take the medication Norvasc for his CAS for the rest of his life.  

The employee testified he tried to find out what had happened to the elderly gentleman whose call he and his partner had responded to on November 21, 2004, but he was unable to find out whether the gentleman had survived the night or not.  He also testified the reason he felt the gentleman was not making rational decisions was because his response to questions asked of him were not rational. He testified the gentleman’s oxygen saturation was only 77%, and a normal person would be unconscious with an oxygen saturation that low.

III. POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

A. Employee’s Arguments

The employee argues in his hearing brief and at hearing, that before the November 21, 2004 exposure, he was in good health and there is no record of his having RADS and/or asthma or CAS.
  However, he argues that within an hour or two of the work exposure, which was a horrendous exposure, he had pulmonary problems, and within a month he had coronary problems, and the symptoms of both conditions persist to this day and are expected to continue.
  The employer further argues the work exposure precipitated, aggravated, accelerated, and/or combined with other factors to cause both his pulmonary and cardiac conditions.
  As to the pulmonary condition, the employer argues the SIME physician Dr. Raybin’s report stated the employee’s response to medication provided objective evidence of RAD, and absent the inhalational exposure, the employee would not have developed cough, wheezing and respiratory distress in the subsequent month, so that the work exposure was a substantial factor in causing aggravation of the preexisting condition of allergic rhinosinusitis.
  In addition, the employee argues although Dr. Raybin stated the employee’s pulmonary condition had resolved as of February 2007, which was accurate at the time, in fact the employee had recurrent symptoms in March of 2007, and his pulmonary condition is ongoing.  In addition, the employer argued both Dr. Clark and Dr. Raybin opined the employee had RADS and Dr. Gerboth concluded the employee’s work exposure caused a significant inflammatory cascade affecting the lungs.
  The employee maintained the opinion of Dr. Breall showed the adrenergic medications the employee was prescribed can result in a rupture of an atherosclerotic plaque, as well as superimposed coronary artery spasm. The employee argued Dr. Arora’s opinions did not overcome the presumption of compensability, in part because he is not a specialist in cardiac or pulmonary medicine, but also because his reports are inconsistent internally and with each other.  The employee requested the Board find the employer has acted in bad faith in controverting the employee’s claim based on Dr. Arora’s false reports.

The employee argued the employee had no prior pulmonary or cardiac condition needing treatment before the work injury, but even if he had, his conditions are still compensable.
  The employee argued the Alaska Supreme Court in DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott instructed us to not distinguish between the “aggravation of symptoms and the aggravation of an underlying condition.”
  He argued once the compensability of a claim is accepted by the employer, then the employer, not the employee, has the burden of establishing that the condition is no longer compensable.
  In addition, he argued that for his claims to be compensable, he does not have to prove that but for the work injury he would never have been disabled or needed medical treatment for a coronary or pulmonary problem, only that he “would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.”

The employee argued he is the type of person that wants to work, and no one has ever so much as suggested that he is exaggerating his symptoms or being anything less than scrupulously honest.  In addition, he argues he was injured in the course of assisting a person who needed his help.

The employee argued among the problems with Dr. Arora’s testimony is that Dr. Arora was initially requested to evaluate the employee’s cardiac condition, not his pulmonary condition. The employee maintained this led to Dr. Arora’s giving an opinion on the pulmonary condition without having all of the medical records pertaining to the employee’s pulmonary condition, especially those records that revealed the employee was on the medications Advair and/or albuterol, appropriately prescribed for his asthma, almost continually since December 22, 2004.  The employee argued this led Dr. Arora’s conclusions concerning the employee’s pulmonary condition being based on incorrect information.  

B. Employer’s Arguments

In its February 26, 2008 hearing brief, the employer characterizes the employee’s argument to be that because he was allegedly in perfect health before his November 21, 2004 exposure, his diagnosis of asthma or RADS, and MI, CAS and endothelial dysfunction, are all related to the November 21, 2004 exposure.
  The employer relied upon the Alaska Supreme Court’s ruling in Lindhag v. State Department of Natural Resources
 to argue that simply because the employee’s health problems began after his November 2004 exposure does not mean the exposure caused those health problems.
  

The employer maintains the preponderance of the evidence shows that after March 25, 2005, the employee’s coronary artery disease and other heart related conditions are not compensable.
 The employer argues the opinions of the EME physicians, Dr. Thompson, Dr. Arora and Dr. Singh showed there was no relationship between the work injury and the employee’s heart conditions or treatment for those heart conditions after March of 2005.
  The employer also asserts the employee was medically stable as to his heart condition on March 8, 2005.
 Further, the employer argues the opinions of SIME physician Dr. Breall prove that the employee’s heart conditions after March 2005 are not compensable, as Dr. Breall opined any cardiac medical treatment after March of 2005 was not related to the MI or the work exposure.
 In addition, the employer argues the testimony of the employee’s treating physician, Dr. Mayer, proves the cardiac care after March 2005 is not compensable.  The employer relies on Dr. Mayer’s testimony that although the employee’s MI was precipitated by the November 21, 2004 exposure, the employee’s atherosclerosis and CAS were neither caused nor aggravated by the work exposure.
  The employer also maintained both Dr. Mayer and Dr. Singh opined stent procedures are done for coronary artery stenosis due to atherosclerosis, not for an MI.

The employer also asserted the employee had not proved by a preponderance of the evidence that his treatment for his ongoing pulmonary problem after March of 2005 is related to the work exposure.
  The employer argued the employee’s pulmonary condition was initially diagnosed as bronchitis, and was only diagnosed with RADS by Dr. Clark after he had seen the employee once at PAMC, and Dr. Clark noted other diagnostic considerations, as there are symptoms that can mimic asthma or RADS.
  Although both Dr. Raybin and Dr. Rathkopf diagnosed RADS, the employer contends Dr. Rathkopf changed her diagnosis to asthma.
  The employer maintained Dr. Smith diagnosed the employee with allergic rhinitis and chronic sinusitis.
  In addition, the employer relied upon the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (“AMA Guides”)
 to support its argument that a diagnosis of asthma is characterized by variable airflow limitation, which can be detected with PFT’s, whereas in the employee’s case, the PFT’s are normal.
  The employer also argued the employee’s pulmonary conditions have resolved, based upon Dr. Raybin’s opinion  the employee’s pulmonary problem had resolved by January of 2007, and Dr. Smith’s opinion in his March 25, 2005 report that the employee had reached medical stability by March 25, 2005.
  In addition, the employer encourages the Board to rely on Dr. Thompson’s opinion in his March 2005 report that the employee’s pulmonary condition was a temporary aggravation that had subsided and that the work exposure was not a substantial factor in the need for continuing pulmonary or allergy treatment.
  Finally, the employer asserts the Board should give great weight to the September 22, 2005 report of Dr. Arora, in which he opined that the employee’s pulmonary condition due to the work injury had resolved completely by March 25, 2005, and that the employee does not in fact have asthma, but rather a genetically medicated condition called atopy, and the employee developed temporary and reversible bronchospasm with respiratory infections in December of 2004 and again in March of 2007.
  

The employer argued the overwhelming preponderance of the medical evidence shows the employee does not have asthma.  The employer asserted the only physicians who saw the employee when he was acutely symptomatic were at the ER in December of 2004, and these doctors concluded the employee had bronchitis.  The employer contended the SIME physician Dr. Raybin agreed that the symptoms the employee had in December 2004 could also be symptoms of bronchitis.  The employer further maintained Dr. Arora’s opinion is entitled to great weight, as he is the doctor who has done the most detailed and thorough review of the medical records, is the only doctor who is an expert in toxicology and forensic medicine, which is important for causation, and is also the only doctor who has a master’s degree in chemistry and has taught chemistry and internal medicine.  The employer argued Dr. Raybin’s opinion that one cannot be certain that any symptoms of asthma after January 27, 2007, were related to the work exposure proved there is no argument the employee’s pulmonary condition is compensable after January of 2007.

The employer maintained there is no medical evidence, and not one physician opined, that the employee’s cardiac condition of CAS was permanently aggravated by the work exposure, or that stent placement is a treatment for CAS.  Therefore, the employer argued the Board should find the employee’s cardiac condition not compensable after March of 2005.

IV.  ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS

The employee submitted an Affidavit of Attorney’s Fees and Costs on September 18, 2007, for 12.3 attorney hours at $300.00 per hour and 45.2 attorney hours at $350.00 per hour, for a total of 57.5 hours and $19,510.00.
  In addition, there were 57.7 paralegal hours at $100.00 per hour and 22.3 paralegal hours at $125.00 per hour, for a total of $8,557.50.
  Thus the total fees were $28,067.50.
  The total costs for telephone calls, postage, courier, copies, fax and depositions were $991.08.  Thus total fees and costs as of September 18, 2007, were $29,058.58.

The employee submitted a supplemental affidavit of fees on February 27, 2008.
  The total attorney hours were 34.5 hours at $350.00 per hour, and the total paralegal hours were 18.65 hours at $125.00 per hour, for total fees of $14,406.25.
 There were additional costs for telephone calls, postage, courier, copies, fax and depositions of $184.65, bringing the grand total for costs to $1,175.73.
  Thus the additional fees and costs as of February 27, 2008 are $14,590.90.

On May 28, 2008, the employee filed a second supplemental affidavit of fees, current to 3 PM on May 27, 2008.
  The total attorney hours were 54.10 hours, at $350.00 per hour, and the total paralegal hours were 34.9 hours at $125.00 per hour, for a total of $23,297.50.
  The total additional costs for courier, fax, postage, copies, depositions and FedEx were $1,146.20.
  Thus the additional fees and costs per the May 28, 2008 affidavit were $24,443.70.  The total attorney fees and costs as of May 28, 2008 are $69,093.18.

At hearing on May 29, 2008, the employee requested that the record remain open until June 3, 2008, for the submission of an additional supplemental affidavit of attorney’s fees and  costs, which was timely filed.
  The employee claimed an additional 18.7 hours of attorney fees at $350.00 per hour for a total of $6,545.00 and an additional cost of $1,400.00 for Dr. Raybin’s time for review of records and a deposition.
  The total fees and costs for the June 3, 2008 Affidavit was $7,945.00.  The total for all fees and costs was thus $76,038.18.

The employer filed an Opposition to the Employee’s Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs on March 4, 2008 and an Amended Opposition to the Employee’s Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs on March 7, 2008.
  After the Amended Opposition, the employer continued to object to the employee’s claim for 5.1 hours on August 17, 2007 to prepare a witness list, when there was already a claim of 2.2 hours to prepare a witness list on February 19, 2008.  The employer asserted this was excessive.
  In addition, the employer objected to the employee’s request for 0.7 hours on January 28, 2008, regarding an expert, as the name of the expert was not disclosed.
  Finally, the employer requested the employee’s counsel only be awarded the fees and costs commensurate with the issues on which the employee prevailed.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS

AS 23.30.095(a) provided, in part, at the time of the employee’s injury:

(a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years form and after the date of injury to the employee.  However, if the condition requiring treatment, apparatus or medicine is a latent one, the two-year period runs from the time the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relationship to the employment and after disablement.  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured employee has the right of review by the board.  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require….

In our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment or disability benefit and employment.
  This presumption continues during the course of recovery from the injury and disability.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  To make a prima facie case, raising the presumption of compensability, the employee must present some evidence that (1) she has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  

The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  


Once the presumption attaches, substantial evidence must be produced showing the disability is not work-related.
  Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.
  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related injury or disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the injury is work‑related.
  The same standard is used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, the presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefits drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
   "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
   

II. APPROPRIATE DIAGNOSIS OF THE EMPLOYEE’S PULMONARY CONDITION AND COMPENSABILITY OF THAT PULMONARY CONDITION AFTER MARCH 2005.

The employee claims medical benefits and time loss benefits for his pulmonary condition.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, we must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employee’s claim for benefits for his pulmonary condition after March of  2005.  The employee testified concerning his work exposure, and the subsequent respiratory condition, including the cough that developed and continued after the work exposure as well as his persistent symptoms and need for medical treatment before and after March of 2005.  The documentary record contains medical opinions of his treating physicians, doctors Gerboth and Rathkopf, as well as the opinion of the SIME physician Dr. Raybin indicating the employee suffered from RADS and/or persistent asthma after March 2005.  We find the claimant's testimony and the medical records, reports and testimony are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that his work injury was a substantial factor in causing his pulmonary condition from November 21, 2004 through March 2005 and after March 2005. 

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related injury; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the injury is work‑related.
  

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, we look at the employer’s evidence in isolation.  In doing so, we find the opinions of the EME doctors Smith, Thompson, and Arora constitute substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim for benefits for his pulmonary condition after March of 2005.  Dr. Smith opined the work injury caused a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing condition, acute sinusitis, and that the employee had reached medical stability as of March 25, 2005.  Dr. Thompson opined the employee was back to pre-injury baseline by January 2005.  Dr. Arora opined the employee’s present respiratory conditions consisted of allergic rhinitis, sinusitis and periodic bronchospasm, none of which were caused by the work exposure of November 21, 2004.
  We find the opinions of doctors Smith, Thompson and Arora constitute substantial evidence that the work injury is not a substantial factor in causing the employee’s pulmonary condition after March of 2005.  
Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, the presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefits drops out.  The employee must then prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence,
 as noted above.  

In the instant case, we find that the employee did prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his work injury caused RADS and/or asthma, based on the testimony of the employee, the testimony of his lay witnesses, and the medical records, the reports and testimony of treating physicians Clark, Gerboth and Rathkopf, as well as SIME physician Dr. Raybin. We find the employee’s testimony and that of Mrs. Johnson, as well as the employee’s medical records prior to the November 2004 work exposure, prove the employee did not suffer from any asthma or other respiratory condition, but only had allergic rhinitis when exposed to cats and childhood eczema.  We find the employee’s testimony and that of his witness Mr. Outten, prove the work exposure was an overwhelming one, and the conditions in the trailer were the worst seen by a medic with 18 years experience. We find the employee’s testimony and that of Mr. Outten prove the employee had a reaction to the exposure very soon afterwards, and the reaction was so serious, including cough and facial edema, that they felt a visit to the ER was necessary.  We find the serious nature of the employee’s reaction was confirmed by EME physician Smith, and that Dr. Smith characterized the reaction as “almost anaphylactic.”  

We find, based on the employee’s testimony and that of his wife Mrs. Johnson, the employee suffered from a chronic cough that started after the work exposure and continued through his hospitalization in December of 2007 and January of 2005.  We find. Based on their testimony, as well as the medical records, the employee has continued to take the medications Advair and albuterol, under the direction of a physician, from the time they were prescribed by Dr. Clark until July of 2007, to control the symptoms of his RADS and/or asthma.  We find the exception was for a brief period in September of 2005, when Dr. Clark tried to taper the employee off the medication.  We find the employee did not take Advair from July 2007 until sometime after December of 2007, but that during this time he was on the medication Singulair.  Dr. Arora testified the normal spirometry performed on December 20, 2007, was done while the patient was symptomatic with a cough and off medication, thereby proving the employee does not have asthma.  We do not find Dr. Arora credible.
  Based upon Dr. Raybin’s testimony, a normal spirometry is significant only if done when the employee was off medication and symptomatic with a cough and shortness of breath.  We find, based upon Dr. Rathkopf’s clinic notes, that the employee was not off medication, as he had taken Singulair sporadically; further, we find there is no notation that the employee was short of breath.  Therefore, we find the December 20, 2007 spirometry does not prove the employee does not have RADS and/or asthma and give no weight to Dr. Arora’s opinion. 

In addition, we rely on the medical reports and medical records of the following doctors, and find they prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that the work exposure is a substantial factor in the employee’s pulmonary condition of RADS and/or asthma after March of 2005:  1) Dr. Gerboth, who opined the employee has ongoing RADS due to his work exposure; 2) Dr. Rathkopf, who opined the employee has ongoing asthma requiring medical treatment, due to the work exposure; and 3) the SIME physician, pulmonologist Dr. Raybin, who opined the work exposure is a substantial factor in causing the employee’s RADS and/or asthma in the employee’s need for treatment and disability until January 25, 2007, that the employee was medically stable as of January 25, 2007, and that it cannot be determined whether or not further exacerbations of the employee’s asthma after January 25, 2007 can be attributed to the work injury.

We find the employee credible.
  We find his testimony and demeanor were honest and forthright.  In addition, we note his lay witness Mr. Outten, as well as some of the physicians that examined him, remarked on his transparency and honesty.  We also find the employee’s other lay witnesses, Mrs. Johnson and Mr. Outten, credible,
 based on their testimony and demeanor, which were honest and straightforward.

We find the SIME physician Raybin credible,
 based on his experience and expertise as a board certified pulmonologist, his SIME report, and his testimony.  Dr. Raybin opined the employee’s diagnosis is RADS and/or asthma, and the treatment was the same for both conditions.  Dr. Raybin testified he diagnosed the employee with RADS and/or asthma in part because it was not certain what substances the employee had been exposed to in the work exposure.  Dr. Raybin based his opinion concerning the employee’s diagnosis on the employee’s history of lack of symptoms prior to the work exposure, and development of persistent cough after the exposure, as well as the employee’s response to medication.  Dr. Raybin opined although it was preferred to have positive spirometry testing to support a diagnosis of asthma, asthma should not be ruled out based on a test that was not done under the proper circumstances.  

We find Dr. Gerboth credible,
 based on his experience and expertise, as he is a board certified pulmonologist.  We find Dr. Gerboth was able to evaluate the employee on multiple occasions, and diagnosed the employee with RADS, which he opined was due to the work exposure.  Dr. Gerboth also opined the employee’s need for treatment for his RADS or asthma in the past and in the future is related to his work exposure.

We find Dr. Rathkopf credible,
 based on her experience and expertise, as she is board certified by the American Board of Allergy and Immunology.  We find Dr. Rathkopf was able to evaluate the employee over time, as she has treated him from April of 2007 until the present.  We find Dr. Rathkopf diagnosed the employee with asthma and opined the work exposure was a substantial factor causing the employee’s asthma and in his need for ongoing medical treatment.  We find Dr. Rathkopf based her opinions on the employee’s lack of symptoms prior to the work exposure, development of symptoms after the work exposure, and response to medication.  We find, based on Dr. Rathkopf’s opinion, positive spirometry is recommended, but not required, to make a diagnosis of asthma.

We give less weight to Dr. Arora’s reports and testimony concerning the employee’s pulmonary condition as Dr. Arora is not a board certified pulmonologist.  We find Dr. Arora’s credibility
 is lessened by his assertions in his deposition and at hearing, that the only difference between himself and a board certified pulmonologist is that a board certified pulmonologist has learned to do procedures, such as biopsies and bronchoscopies, and that the only time he requests assistance from a board certified pulmonologist in the care of a patient is when that patient requires a procedure. We find Dr. Arora’s credibility is also diminished by his assertion at hearing that the only difference between his own ability to diagnose and treat cardiac patients and that of a board certified cardiologist is the training and ability of a board certified cardiologist to perform procedures.

We do not rely on Dr. Arora’s diagnosis, treatment recommendations, or understanding of the employee’s pulmonary condition.  We find, based on Dr. Rathkopf’s testimony, upon which we rely, Dr. Arora misinterpreted an article in the medical literature concerning genetics and asthma.  In his August 13, 2007 report, Dr. Arora opined there is a single asthma gene, or co-existing gene, and based this opinion on an approximately 10 year old article. We find Dr. Rathkopf demonstrated a more thorough and accurate understanding of the complex interaction of genetics, the environment, and asthma, based on an accurate reading of the article quoted by Dr. Arora, as well as knowledge of the advances in knowledge on this topic from more recent articles in the medical literature.  We also find Dr. Arora’s credibility was damaged by his discussion at hearing of the criteria for the diagnosis of RADS.  Dr. Arora testified he disagreed with Dr. Gerboth’s opinion that the criteria for the diagnosis of RADS had changed since 1985, and now did not exclude those with preexisting atopy.  Based upon Dr. Arora’s heavy reliance on medical literature, the Board, under AS 23.30.135, has reviewed some of the articles on which Dr. Arora relies, and we take administrative notice of those articles.  We find Dr. Arora’s opinion relies upon an article by Dr. Alberts, in which Table 2 on page 1619 of the article, requires: “[T]otal absence of preceding respiratory disease in a nonatopic person.”  We take administrative notice that Dr. Alberts identified the criteria in Table 2, proposed by E.J. Bardana,
 may be too restrictive, as the criteria exclude those individuals with an atopic history.
  Further, we find Dr. Alberts’ 1996 article supports Dr. Gerboth’s contention that atopic individuals are not precluded from a diagnosis of RADS.  In addition, we take administrative notice of a 2008 article, in which another list of criteria for the diagnosis of RADS is given, and upon which Dr. Arora relied to show he was using the most updated criteria in his analysis.
 We take administrative notice this list of criteria does not exclude those with a history of atopy.
 We find Dr. Arora is less credible on issues concerning the employee’s pulmonary condition than the board certified pulmonologists Gerboth, Rathkopf, and Raybin.

We find we do not have to decide whether the employee has RADS or asthma, as, in the case of the employee, the treatment is the same, based on Dr. Raybin’s testimony.  We find, based on the testimony of Dr. Gerboth, Dr. Raybin, and Dr. Rathkopf, the work injury is a substantial factor causing the employee’s pulmonary condition of RADS and/or asthma, and the necessity for treatment and any disability, after March 2005.  We also find, based on our review of the medical record as a whole, and the testimony of Dr. Raybin, who testified the employee was medically stable as of the date he saw him, which was January 25, 2007.  

In addition, we find the employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence the work injury is a substantial factor in his ongoing RADS and or asthma and need for medical treatment.  The employee’s testimony and the medical records prove the employee continues to have symptoms of RADS and/or asthma and that he requires medical treatment, including medications for his condition.  The employee’s treating physicians, doctors Gerboth and Rathkopf, both opined the work injury is a substantial factor in the employee’s ongoing RADS and/or asthma and need for ongoing medical treatment.  Dr. Raybin testified doctors Gerboth and Rathkopf might be right, but he also testified he cannot say for certain the work injury is a substantial factor in the employee’s ongoing pulmonary condition and need for treatment, and he knows of no science that could say one way or the other.  We find Dr. Raybin’s opinion on this issue is equivocal.

We do not rely on the opinion of EME physician Dr. Smith that the employee was stable as to his pulmonary condition after March of 2005, as Dr. Smith’s opinion was based only on his one-time evaluation of the employee in March of 2005.  Dr. Smith was unaware of the subsequent treatment and disability the employee suffered due to his pulmonary condition.  In addition, we do not rely on the opinion of EME physician Dr. Thompson that the employee was stable as to his pulmonary condition as of January 3, 2005, as he examined the employee only once, in March of 2005, and he was unaware of the subsequent course of the employee’s pulmonary condition.  We do not rely on the opinion of EME physician Dr. Arora as we do not find him credible.

The Alaska Supreme Court has stated where there is a conflict in testimony, it is undeniably the province of the Board and not the Alaska Supreme Court to decide who to believe and who to distrust.
 The Alaska Supreme Court has also found there is a general principle that any doubts concerning inconclusive medical testimony are to be resolved in favor of the claimant.
  In the instant case, doctors Gerboth and Rathkopf have opined the employee’s work exposure on November 21, 2004, is a substantial factor in his ongoing pulmonary condition, whereas Dr. Raybin has opined this is possible, but not certain, and cannot actually be determined.  We find Dr. Raybin’s testimony is equivocal on this issue, and must be resolved in favor of the claimant.  We conclude, based on our review of the entire record, the work injury is the substantial factor in the employee’s ongoing pulmonary condition of RADS and/or asthma, and need for treatment. We shall order the employer to pay medical benefits for the employee’s pulmonary condition of RADS and/or asthma from March 2005 and ongoing.

III. COMPENSABILITY OF EMPLOYEE’S TREATMENT FOR CAS AND STENTS AFTER MARCH OF 2005

In the instant case, the claimant testified concerning his work exposure, and the subsequent respiratory condition, and subsequent MI, as well as his persistent symptoms of chest pain and need for medical treatment in the form of medication and stent placement, after March of 2005.  We find the documentary record shows the disputed medical treatment has been provided and recommended by the employee’s treating physicians, doctors Gray, Mayer, Peterson, Kramer and Sandhu.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, we must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employee’s claim for medical treatment for his CAS and stents after March of 2005.  

A.  The Employee’s Myocardial Infarction

We find the employer has accepted the employee’s MI as caused by the work injury and compensable through March 2005.  In addition, applying the first stage of the presumption, we find the employee has raised the presumption the MI is compensable through his testimony, the medical records, and the testimony of treating physician Dr. Mayer, and SIME physicians  Raybin and Breall.  Dr. Mayer  opined the employee’s MI was caused by the work injury.  Dr.  Raybin opined the employee’s pulmonary condition was caused by the work injury, and Dr. Breall opined if Dr. Raybin found the pulmonary condition was caused by the work injury, then the MI was caused by the work injury. 

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer argued the opinions of EME physicians Thompson, Smith, Singh, and Arora, that the employee’s MI was not caused by the work injury, are substantial evidence that rebuts the presumption.  Dr. Thompson and Dr. Smith agreed it was impossible to say with any degree of medical certainty that the acute allergic reaction and subsequent sinus infection produced significant enough inflammation under an atherosclerotic plaque to cause an acute myocardial infarction.  Dr. Smith also opined it seemed plausible that in a patient with a family history of MI and significant underlying atherosclerotic heart disease that the inflammation from the exposure was sufficient to cause an MI.  He further opined genetic and host factors play even a larger role than the environmental exposure as a cause of the employee’s MI. Dr. Singh opined the employee’s MI was unrelated to the work injury, and was caused by the employee’s preexisting atherosclerosis.  Dr. Arora opined the work exposure did not have any effect on the preexisting coronary artery disease, based on reasonable medical probability. We find their opinions do rebut the presumption. 

However, at the third state of the presumption analysis, we find the employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence his work exposure was a substantial factor in the cause of his MI.  We find the testimony of the board certified cardiologists to be most reliable on the issue of whether the employee’s MI was caused by the work injury.  Two of the cardiologists who evaluated the employee, doctors Mayer and Breall, opined the work injury was a substantial factor in the cause of the employee’s MI.  Dr. Breall opined an acute allergic reaction, and the acute respiratory infection the employee was suffering, can cause an MI.  He also opined the inhalant medications the employee was taking could have aggravated the CAS, produced greater obstruction, and resulted in an acute MI.  Dr. Mayer opined the employee’s heart attack was precipitated by the original exposure, although he stated the MI was caused by plaque rupture rather than CAS.  One cardiologist, Dr. Singh, opined the work injury was not a substantial factor in the cause of the MI.  However, Dr. Singh also opined the MI was caused by coronary spasm superimposed on the 90% blockage.  Dr. Singh stated treatment with bronchodilators can cause CAS, and he did not rule out the employee’s use of bronchodilators as a cause of the employee’s CAS.

We find, based on the testimony of SIME physicians Raybin and cardiologist Breall, as well as the testimony of cardiologist Dr. Mayer, the work injury was a substantial cause in the employee’s MI.

B. Treatment of the Employee’s Cardiac Condition with Stents

At the first stage of the presumption analysis, we find the medical reports of Dr. Sandhu, in which Dr. Sandhu stated the employee’s stent treatment may have been for CAS, is sufficient to raise the presumption the employee’s medical treatment with stent placement after March of 2005 is compensable.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer argued the opinions EME doctors Arora and Singh, the opinion of SIME physician Dr. Breall and treating physician Dr. Mayer constitute substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim for the disputed benefits after March of 2005.  Dr. Singh opined the reason for the stent placement is stenosis due to atherosclerosis.  Dr. Mayer testified although the employee’s first stent placement was to treat his MI, subsequent stent placements were to treat chronic atherosclerosis. We find the opinions of doctors Singh and Mayer do rebut the presumption.  

Applying the third stage of the presumption analysis to the instant case, we find the employee did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that treatment of his cardiac condition with stent placement after March of 2005 is work related and compensable.  The record shows, based on the reports and testimony of doctors Mayer, Thompson, Breall, and Arora, the employee’s atherosclerosis preexisted his December 2004 MI, and was neither caused by nor aggravated by the work injury.  We find no doctor opined stent placement is a treatment for CAS.  We further find their opinions prove the employee’s stents after March, 2005 were for the treatment of stenosis due to the employee’s preexisting atherosclerosis, not for the treatment of CAS.  We find, based on the reports and testimony of doctors Mayer, Thompson, Breall and Arora, the work injury of November 21, 2004 was not a substantial factor in the employee’s need for stent placement in the treatment of his cardiac condition after March, 2005.

We shall deny and dismiss the employee’s claim for medical benefits for treatment of his cardiac condition with stent placements after March, 2005.

C. Treatment of the Employee’s Coronary Artery Spasm

The employee has claimed medical benefits for his cardiac condition of CAS.  Applying the presumption analysis to the treatment of the employee’s cardiac condition of CAS, we find the testimony of the employee and the medical reports and testimony of doctors Breall, Singh, and Mayer raise the presumption the employee’s treatment for CAS is compensable.  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the claimed treatment or disability benefit and employment.
 

In his February 1, 2007 report, Dr. Breall opined some of the medication the employee was taking, such as his various inhalants, could aggravate CAS.  In Dr. Singh’s September 5, 2007 deposition, he testified bronchodilators can aggravate CAS.  Dr. Mayer also testified in his June 22, 2007 deposition that in patients who have demonstrated vasospasm, beta blockers may worsen it.  He further testified the employee was on a beta blocker for his MI, which was stopped once it was demonstrated he had CAS.

At the second stage of the presumption analysis, the employer may rebut the presumption either by presenting affirmative evidence the CAS is not aggravated by his work injury, or by eliminating all possibilities that the CAS was aggravated by the work injury.  We find the employer has offered no evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s CAS is aggravated by the employee’s inhalers for his pulmonary condition.  We also find the employer has offered no evidence to rebut the presumption the employee’s CAS was aggravated by the beta blocker medication Toprol-XL, or metoprolol, which was prescribed for his MI.  We find the employer has not rebutted the presumption.

Even if we found the employer had rebutted the presumption, at the third stage of the presumption analysis, we would still find the employee has proven his claim by a preponderance of the evidence. We find, based on the testimony of the SIME physicians Raybin and Breall, and the cardiologists doctors Mayer and Singh, the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee’s CAS is compensable.  We find, based upon these physicians’ opinions, that the CAS has been aggravated by the adrenergic medications the employee was taking for his pulmonary condition and the beta blocker medication metoprolol he was taking for his MI from December of 2004 until November of 2005.  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment is compensable, and the employer is liable for continuing medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a).
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under 
AS 23.30.095(a).
  The CAS is aggravated by the adrenergic medications used to treat his pulmonary condition, and was aggravated by the beta blocker medication used to treat his MI, both of which are work related.  We conclude reasonable and necessary treatment for the CAS, as related to treatment of his compensable pulmonary condition, is compensable.  We further find reasonable and necessary treatment for the CAS, as related to treatment of his MI, is compensable.

III. TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS FROM MARCH OF 2005 THROUGH JANUARY 27, 2007.

The employee claims TTD benefits for his work injuries, for certain dates from March 25, 2005 through January 27, 2007. At the time of the employee's injury, the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defined "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provided for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage while the disability is "total in character but temporary in quality,"
 but did not define TTD.  

Nevertheless, the Alaska courts long ago defined TTD for its application in our cases.   In Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board,(“Phillips Petroleum”)
 the Alaska territorial court defined TTD as "the healing period or the time during which the workman is wholly disabled and unable by reason of his injury to work."  The court explained:

A claimant is entitled to compensation for temporary total disability during the period of convalescence and during which time the claimant is unable to work, and the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.  The test is whether the claimant remains incapacitated to do work by reason of his injury, regardless of whether the injury at some time can be diagnosed as a permanent partial disability.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

As noted above, the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  

Pursuant to the Alaska Supreme Court’s decision in Phillips Petroleum, “the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.”
  Medical stability was defined at the time of the employee’s injury as follows:

 “medical stability” means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence….

We find the time the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit is equivalent to the definition of medical stability in AS 23.30.395(21).  Therefore, we find the employer is liable for TTD benefits while the employee was not medically stable.

In the instant case, the employee testified concerning his pulmonary condition.  We find the documentary record contains medical opinions of his treating physicians, Dr. Clark, Dr. Gerboth, and the SIME physician Dr. Raybin, showing the employee suffered ongoing symptoms of his pulmonary condition. We find the records also contain the opinion of Dr. Raybin, that the employee’s pulmonary condition was not medically stable before January 25, 2007. We find the employee’s testimony and the medical treatment records of doctors Clark and Gerboth and the SIME report of Dr. Raybin, are sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability for the employee’s claim for TTD benefits.  

Applying the second stage of the presumption analysis to this case, the employer argued the opinions of EME physicians Thompson, Smith and Arora constitute substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim for TTD benefits after March of 2005.  Both Dr. Smith and Dr. Arora opined the employee was medically stable as to his pulmonary and cardiac conditions after March of 2005. We find the opinions of the EME physicians are sufficient to rebut the presumption.

In the present case, we find the employee did prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to TTD for any period when he was unable to work due to his pulmonary condition, from March 2005 through January 27, 2007, specifically any of the dates: March 24-26, 2005; September 19-23, 2005; October 17-20, 2005; November 15-16 & 20-25 & 29-30, 2005; December 1-4 & 8-9, 2005; July 12-13,2005; and January 21-22, 2007, for which time loss was due to his pulmonary condition.  We find the medical records show that the employee has continued to be treated for his pulmonary condition after March of 2005 until the present time.  Although the EME physicians Smith and Arora both opined the employee’s pulmonary condition was stable as of March 25, 2005, Dr. Smith did not examine the employee after March of 2005, and Dr. Arora only examined the employee once, in March of 2007.  Dr. Arora testified at his deposition that if the employee had developed a continuing pulmonary condition, the employee’s treating physicians would have a better understanding of the employee’s condition than he would.  We find the testimony and medical report of Dr. Raybin, who opined the employee was medically stable as of January 27, 2007, prove the pulmonary condition of the employee was not medically stable until January 27, 2007.  

We shall order the employee to pay the employee TTD benefits for any of the time loss days, from March 24, 2005 through January 27, 2007, as listed on the employer’s hearing brief Exhibit 1, when the employee could not work due to his pulmonary condition of RADS and/or asthma.  

IV.  INTEREST
8 AAC 45.140 provides, in pertinent part:


Interest. (a)  If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid …at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

(b)  The employer shall pay the interest

  (1)  on late-paid time-loss compensation to the employee, or if deceased, to the employee’s beneficiary or estate;

  ….

  (3)  on late-paid medical benefits to


(A) the employee or, if deceased, to the employee’s beneficiary or estate, if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits;


(B) to an insurer, trust, organization, or government agency, if the insurer, trust, organization, or government agency has paid the provider of the medical benefits; or 


(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid.

AS 23.30.155(p) provides:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest is required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 
8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at 
AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.  The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  We find interest should be paid at the statutory rate for the loss of the time value of the benefits pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142, AS 23.30.155(p) and AS 09.30.070(a).  We shall order the employer to pay interest on any past due benefits.

V. Attorney’s Fees and Costs

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

Based on our review of the record, we find the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the employee.  Specifically, we find the employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the employee’s entitlement to benefits.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The employee’s affidavits of fees and costs and statement at the hearing itemize the following for Attorney Chancy Croft:  1) 12.3 hours of attorney time at $300.00 per hour, and 152.5 hours at $350.00 per hour, totaling $57,065.00; 2) 57.7 hours of paralegal time at $100.00 per hour, and 75.85 hours at $125.00 per hour, totaling $14,590.90; and costs totaling $3,721.93.  Thus, the total fees and costs for Attorney Chancy Croft is $76,038.18.

We note the claimed hourly rates of $300.00 and $350.00 are within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  We found the employee counsel’s arguments at hearing of benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  We found the employee’s counsel’s brief of less benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  More detailed arguments tied closely to the facts would have been of more benefit to us in deciding the issues in this case, considering the complex medical evidence and disputes.  We find this was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  We will award actual attorney fees at the rate of $300.00 and $350.00 per hour, paralegal fees at $100.00 and $125.00 per hour, and costs of $3,721.93. Since the employee did not prevail on the issue of stent placement for his cardiac condition after March 2005, or TTD for his cardiac condition after March 2005, we find we cannot award full attorney’s fees.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the above-mentioned attorney fees reasonable for the successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits, but we reduce the attorney fees by 10%, to $65,084.62, as the employee did not prevail on all the issues.  We will award full costs of $3,721.93.  We will award a total of $68,806.55 as reasonable attorney fees, paralegal fees, and costs.  

ORDERS

1. Under AS 23.30.095, the employer shall pay the employee medical benefits for his pulmonary condition, RADS and/or asthma, for the time period from March of 2005 and ongoing.

2. The employee’s claim for medical benefits for stents, after March 2005, is denied and dismissed.

3. Under AS 23.30.095, the employer shall pay the employee medical benefits for his cardiac condition of CAS, for the time period from March, 2005 and ongoing, as long as he is taking medications for his pulmonary condition that aggravate his CAS, or medications for his MI that aggravate his CAS.

4. Under AS 23.30.185, the employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits for time loss due to his pulmonary condition of RADS and/or asthma after March 25, 2005 through January 27, 2007, specifically for the dates: March 24-26, 2005; September 19-23, 2005; October 17-20, 2005; November 15-16, & 20-25, & 29-30, 2005; December 1-4, & 8-9, 2005; July 12-13, 2005; and January 21-22, 2007.

5. The employer shall pay the employee attorney’s fees and costs in the amount of $68,806.55, pursuant to AS 23.30.145.

6. The employer shall pay interest on any benefits that are past due, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.142, AS 23.30.155(p) and AS 09.30.070(a).
Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on October ___, 2008.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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